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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached. In particular,
companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may
be risks arising out of the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies operate.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is @ market more suited to professional and
other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated by the Stock Exchange. Listed
companies are not generally required to issue paid announcement in gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should note that
they need to have access to the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of
the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Thiz Technology Group Limited collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to Thiz Technology Group Limited. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: 1. the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading; 2. there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this
report misleading; and 3. all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Corporate Profile

Based in Hong Kong, Thiz Technology Group Limited (“Thiz”, the
“Company” or the “Group”) is the first and a leading developer of Linux
solutions for PC users. Thiz was also the first Linux software solution
provider listed in the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong in July 2001 (Stock Code: 8119). Thiz is a
provider of various computing solutions and related services targeted
at individuals, small to medium size enterprises (“SMEs”) and educational
institutions. The products and services provided by the Group include
ThizLinux operating system, applications and other related services,
such as software installation, training and education. Thiz launches
high quality products that are flexible to customise for clients of SMEs,
government and educational institutions.

Thiz is devoted to developing Linux and related applications, and
promote the Group’s brandname to the global market. ThizLinux is the
Group’s R&D backbone on Linux operating systems, software and
applications. The Group has introduced a wide range of products
including Linux desktop systems, office suites, server applications,
trading systems, diskless solution, intranet collaborative software,
anti-virus software and firewall.

To promote Linux general education, Thiz provides various solutions on
Linux education for primary and secondary schools, tertiary institutions
and training centres. The solutions include course management, training
materials, teaching plans, training certifications, examination system
and other related services. Currently, the Group is actively promoting
learning and usage of ThizLinux products in Hong Kong.

On regional development, the Group has offices in Hong Kong, Taiwan
and China. Through software bundling, OEM partnerships, education
and ThizLinux enterprise solutions, the Group offers comprehensive
support and services to governments, private enterprises, educational
institutions as well as individual users in the Greater China region.
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Corporate Milestone

Mar 2003

Feb 2003

Dec 2002

Sep 2002

Aug 2002

Jun 2002
Apr 2002
Feb 2002
Jan 2002
Oct 2001
Jul 2001

May 2001
May 2000

Dec 1999
Jun 1998

Joint hands with City University of Hong Kong to promote
education and technology advancement of Linux
Signed agreement with China Electronic Information
Application Education Center of China Ministry of
Information Industry to establish the National I.T. Training
and Examination Management Office to nurture 175,000
professionals on information technology in three years
Introduced a series of ThizLinux training course with
Peking University

Introduced ThizLinux courses with Beijing Normal
University

Released ThizServer 6.0 and ThizLinux Desktop 6.2; Joint
LinuxWorld Conference and Exposition in L.A.;
Established an education alliance of open-source software
in China

Cooperated with IBM in Taiwan to launch the SOS Office
Suite
Launched ThizLinux Desktop 6.0 and ThizOffice 3.0

Established strategic alliances with Elitegroup and
Chaintech

Obtained ‘A+’ rating from PRC’s Standardisation of
Information Technology Committee

Upgraded ThizLinux Desktop to 5.0 version

Listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Launched ThizOffice 2.0

Launched ThizLinux Desktop 1.0

Established the Hong Kong headquarter

Company Established

Major Subsidiaries
SEXEMELTR

China #

Beijing Thiz Junye Software Co., Ltd.
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Beijing ThizLinux Software Co., Ltd.
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China

ThizLinux Software (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
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Business Development

The Group is committed to enhancing software development and
exploring wider product market around the world in its business plan.
Having founded a solid base in Greater China, the Group is targeting
global business by following seven significant directions.

1. Develop Supercomputer on Linux

Developing supercomputers running on Linux is one of the most
visionary strategies of the Group. Thiz focuses on this highly
potential market by actively working with famous universities
and research institutes. The parties collaborate to develop Linux
supercomputers supporting Chinese for the Greater China
market.

2. Implement e-Government

An increasing number of government departments and
enterprises are using Linux software and solutions. The trend
attracts Thiz to the e-government business by providing ancillary
solutions and services, plus safe, secure and stable online
services.

3. Design Solutions for Enterprises

With the Group’s strong R&D and marketing background, Thiz
understands the real needs of different enterprises. The Group
introduces highly scaleable and cost effective solutions for
enterprises to raise cost effectiveness.

4, Introduce Distance Education

To help nurturing Linux talents in China, Thiz and Beijing Normal
University join together and introduce distance courses on
ThizLinux Desktop System and ThizOffice suite to teachers from
primary and secondary schools.

5 Innovate Linux Education Model

The Group has established an education alliance of open-source
software in China, with the support and cooperation from various
official organisations and tertiary institutions like China Ministry
of Information Industry and Beijing Normal University. The alliance
aims at promoting Linux on tertiary education and nurturing
experts in system administration and software development in
China.
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Business Development

Establish International Strategic Alliance

The Group is dedicated to establishing strategic alliances with
internationally renowned system integrators and software
developers, such as IBM, HP, Oracle, Sybase, Sun
Microsystems. Thiz works closely with its partners to expand
the sales channels through software bundling and OEM projects.

Expand Sales Channels

To explore a larger market around the world, the Group has
joint partnership with various distributors from China, Hong Kong,
Taiwan, Macau, Japan, Korea and Malaysia. The Group also
devotes to developing sales channels in Europe and the America
for further penetration.

Major Sectors of Cooperation and Development

Governments and public organisations

Facilitating cost saving and working efficiency within governments
and public bodies is always a priority. The Group has been
working closely with the Information Technology Services
Department (ITSD) of the HKSAR on product improvement and
software localisation. Currently the Civil Aviation Department is
a valuable customer.

In China, the Group has also established amiable relationship
with various government departments and public organisations
to set up a strong foothold.

Educational institutions

The Group has promoted the usage of Linux through participating
in seminars co-organised with tertiary institutions including Hong
Kong Baptist University, Vocational Training Council and
Construction Industry Training Authority. A wide range of
educational activities was also conducted in conjunction with
primary and secondary schools to introduce ThizLinux.

In China, the Group has established an education alliance of
open-source software with Peking University and Beijing Normal
University. This will set the ball rolling on promoting Linux
applications.

=T DRNAEERRLF

W

XBERERK

2 3 B PR SR WS B BB

EERNEABBANENRAERRE
HHEREPOIBM . B B EX
Sybase « AR5 E I 5 7 37 58 BE B BE - £
EIERHEZEAE BBRBEHHRK
OEMIEE BFHESHEBNIEHE
En EHRAEBEERNEEMS-

EADHERE

E%)%Eﬁﬁiﬁuﬁéﬁﬁﬂmﬁ’]%%ﬁ
Kﬁé‘&%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁfm&y%nﬁﬁ
BaF URBNERMENHER
BAE—FEFEMH S

TEEERBRITH

B DR

BBV &~ R ET A KA KRB
LENE-—HEREEELARB KK
—HEFBERREAMREREEAR
5 MR Em METER AR T
EHESEERIRERRPZ —

FEGE AKREEEE S ERF
MPARAHKBBREIRFAE BT
BROEA-

HEHRE

REBBHBFEZTEAE BEIIK
BEREEZEIRBELHE FEE
W 5 & FE DAHERE(E ALinux - W E %
MR NELEREIEAHE LT
HE ThizLinux °

RESH AKEDBPEILRAS
RACRENE#H AR A 1F- KB BT
HEH R R LnuxERARLE —
io



Thiz Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2003

Business Development

Partners and Client List
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Hong Kong

u # B Education

Buddhist Leung Chik Wai College
CCC Chuen Yuen College

CCC Kei Yuen College

City University of Hong Kong
Cheung Chuk Shan College

Kau Yan College

PLK Yao Ling Sun College

Sha Tin Government Secondary School
St. Paul Co-ed College

TWGH Yow Kam Yuen College
TWGH S.C. Gaw Mem. College
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Government & Organisations
Hong Kong Council of the Church of Christ
in China
Hong Kong Federation of Education Workers
Hospitality & Leisure Asia
Information & Technology Services
Department of HKSAR
The Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers
Association
R
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| P ¥ %% Enterprises

APS Technical Company

Business & Industrial Trade Fairs Limited
Columbia CP (HK) Ltd.

Cyber-net Enterprises Company

Fairly Company

Fung Yu Electrical and Machinery Co., Ltd.
Helix International Limited

Hing Tai Hong Paper Limited

IR

IBM

Infolead Dynamic Limited

Oracle

Philip Design Studio

PI Electronics (Hong Kong) Ltd.
Property Care Management Service Limited
Rooteck Co. Ltd.

Sound Works

Sunwave Co. Ltd.

Sun Microsystems

Sybase

TVB



Business Development

Linux, the Global Trend

“IBM has pumped billions of dollars into its Linux development
efforts and has had success in areas such as getting Linux to
work better on high-end machines with numerous processors.”

[CNET News.com 3rd January, 2003]

“The Chinese government has consistently promoted its local
software based on Linux, both for cost reasons, and reportedly
for ‘security’ concerns as well. The source code for proprietary
software is not revealed, and this, it is believed, has not found
favour with the Chinese, especially in defence and security related
applications.”

[Times News Network 9th October, 2002]

...... In China, the development of Linux is a different story. The
general application of information technology has not started
until recently. Therefore the influence of Windows is not a
problem in the country. Led by the government, the usage of
Linux application is not only found in government departments,
but also in enterprises from different industries and educational
institutions.”

[translated from Ming Pao 2nd January, 2003])

“Peru, though, is not alone. Finland, home to Linux, recently
completed trials of open source use in their government offices.
Germany and France have adopted Linux in government projects.
Closer to home, Thailand and Korea are rolling out localised
versions of Linux and office productivity suites to government
agencies. The list goes on: New Zealand, China, Taiwan, UK -
these countries have all adopted Linux in major initiatives.”
[INQ7.net 16th August, 2002]

“The States, France, Germany, Finland are proactively adopting
initiatives for research, application development and promotion
of Linux. India also developed Simputer online calculator based
on Linux for developing countries.”
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Business Development

Linux, the Global Trend (Cont’d)

. “Linux continues to be increasingly important-if nothing else, as
a viable alternative when speaking to Microsoft,” Kusnetzky said.
[CNET News.com 10th December, 2002]

o According to IDC’s data, the market of Linux servers grew 28%
at 2002 when compared to 2001. The markets of Windows
servers and Unix servers only grew 12% and 5% respectively.
In other words, Linux enjoys the largest growth rate among
server operating systems.
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Business Development

Linux, the Trend in China

Fig.1 Product structure of China's Linux market
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Corporate Information

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit 502-505, 5/F., Tower 3

Enterprise Square, 9 Sheung Yuet Road

Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

Registered Office

Ugland House, South Church Street
P. O. Box 309, George Town
Grand Cayman

Cayman lIslands

British West Indies

Company Website

www.thizgroup.com

Principal Share Registrar

Bank of Butterfield International (Cayman) Ltd.
Butterfield House, Fort Street

P. O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman lIslands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Tengis Limited

Ground Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre
56 Gloucester Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Principal Banker

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Tsimshatsui Branch

82-84 Nathan Road

Tsimshatsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Legal Advisers

As to Hong Kong law
Cheung, Tong & Rosa
Rooms 1621-33, 16th Floor
Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

As to Cayman Islands law

Maples and Calder Asia

1504 One International Finance Centre
1 Harbour View Street

Hong Kong

Auditors

PKF

26th Floor
Citicorp Centre
18 Whitfield Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant
Mr. Chan Sai Yan, ACCA

General Information

Listing . Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited

Listing Date 27th July, 2001

Nominal Value HK$0.01 per share

Stock Code:
Hong Kong

Stock Exchange : 8119
Reuters 2 BRI
Bloomberg ;. 8119 HK

Announcement of
2003 Results 23rd June, 2003
Annual General
Meeting : 30th July, 2008

Financial Year End 31st March
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the
Shareholders of Thiz Technology Group Limited (“the Company”) will
be held at Unit 502-505, 5th Floor, Tower 3, Enterprise Square, 9
Sheung Yuet Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at 2:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 30th July, 2003 to transact the following ordinary

businesses:

1. to receive and consider the consolidated audited financial
statements and the reports of the directors and auditors for the
year ended 31st March, 2003;

2. to re-elect the retiring directors and authorise the board of

directors to fix their remuneration; and

3. to re-appoint auditors and authorise the board of directors to
fix their remuneration.

and by way of special business to consider, and if thought fit, pass

with or without amendments the following resolutions:

4. “THAT:

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

As Ordinary Resolutions

subject to paragraph 4.3 of this Resolution, and pursuant
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the exercise by the Directors of the
Company during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter
defined) of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with additional shares in the capital of the
Company and to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such powers
be and the same is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

the approval in paragraph 4.1 of this Resolution shall be
in addition to any other authorisation given to the
Directors and shall authorise the Directors during the
Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such powers
after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted
or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted
(whether pursuant to options or otherwise) by the
Directors pursuant to the approval in paragraph 4.1 of
this Resolution, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights
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4.4.

Issue (as hereinafter defined); or (ii) the grant or exercise
of any option under the option scheme of the Company
or any other option, scheme or similar arrangement for
the time being adopted for the grant or issue to officers
and/or employees of the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries of shares or rights to acquire shares of the
Company; or (iii) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole
or part of a dividend on shares of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company in force from time to time; or (iv) any issue of
shares in the Company upon the exercise of rights of
subscription or conversion under the terms of any existing
warrants of the Company or any existing securities of
the Company which carry rights to subscribe for or are
convertible into shares of the Company, shall not exceed
20% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company in issue at the date of the passing of
this resolution and the authority pursuant to paragraph
4.1 of this resolution shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the date of the passing of this
Resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(a) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company;

(b) the expiration of the period within which the next
annual general meeting of the Company is required
by the Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company, or any other applicable law of
the Cayman Islands to be held; and
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(c) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting
revoking or varying the authority given to the

Directors by this Resolution.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the
Company, or offer or issue of warrants, options
or other securities giving rights to subscribe for
shares open for a period fixed by the Directors to
holders of shares in the Company on the register
on a fixed record date in proportion to their
holdings of shares (subject to such exclusion or
other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements, or having regard to any restrictions
or obligations under the laws of,
requirements of, or the expense or delay which
may be involved in determining the existence or
extent of any restrictions or obligations under the
laws of, or the requirements of, any jurisdiction
applicable to the Company, or any recognised
regulatory body or any stock exchange applicable

to the Company).”

5. “THAT:

5.1. subject to paragraph 5.2 of this Resolution, the exercise
by the Directors during the Relevant Period (as defined
in Resolutions 4.4 set out in the Notice of this Meeting)
of all powers of the Company to purchase its shares on
The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited or any other stock exchange on which
the shares of the Company may be listed and recognised
by the Securities and Futures Commission and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for such purpose, and
otherwise in accordance with the rules and regulations
of the Securities and Futures Commission, The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or of any other stock
exchange as amended from time to time and all applicable
laws in this regard, be and the same is hereby generally

and unconditionally approved;
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5.2. the aggregate nominal amount of shares of the Company
which may be purchased by the Company pursuant to
the approval in paragraph 5.1 of this Resolution during
the Relevant Period shall not exceed 10% of the
aggregate nominal amount of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of the passing of this
Resolution and the authority pursuant to paragraph 5.1
of this Resolution shall be limited accordingly; and

“THAT conditional upon resolutions nos. 4 and 5 above being
passed, the unconditional general mandate granted to the
Directors of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional
shares and to make or grant offers, agreements and options
which might require the exercise of such powers pursuant to
resolution no. 4 above be and is hereby extended by the addition
thereto of an amount representing the aggregate nominal amount
of the share capital of the Company repurchased by the
Company under the authority granted pursuant to resolution no.
5 above, provided that such amount shall not exceed 10% of
the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share capital of the
Company at the date of the passing of the said resolution.”

As Special Resolutions

“THAT the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”)
be amended:—

7.1. by deleting the entire interpretation of the term
“recognised clearing house” in Article 2 of the Articles
and substituting the following:—

“recognised clearing house” shall mean a clearing house
recognised by the laws of the jurisdiction in which shares
of the Company are listed or quoted in a stock exchange
in such jurisdiction;

7.2. by inserting the words “Notwithstanding anything
contained in these Articles, where more than one proxy
is appointed by a member which is a recognised clearing
house (or its nominee(s)), each such proxy shall have
one vote on a show of hands” in the eleventh line of
Article 85 of the Articles after the word “register”; and
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By Ord

7.3. by inserting the words “deemed to have been duly
authorised without further evidence of the fact and be”
in the fourteenth line of Article 96(b) of the Articles before
the words “entitled to”.”

er of the Board

Thiz Technology Group Limited
Chan Sai Yan
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 30th June, 2003

Principal place of business:

Unit 502-505, 5th Floor, Tower 3,
Enterprise Square, 9 Sheung Yuet Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Notes:—

1)

A member who is a holder of two or more Shares, and who is entitled to
attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint
more than one proxy or a duly authorised corporate representative to
attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude
a member from attending the Annual General Meeting and voting in
person. In such event, his form of proxy will be deemed to have been
revoked.

A form of proxy for the Annual General Meeting is enclosed. In order to
be valid, the form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of
such power or authority, must be deposited at the Branch Share Registrar
of the Company in Hong Kong, Tengis Limited, at Ground Floor, Bank of
East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the Annual
General Meeting or any adjournment thereof.
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Financial Highlights MEBEE
2003 2002
—BE=F —ET_F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T
Results E
- Turnover — ¥R 64,152 30,392
— Profit attributable to shareholders — B R B 15 % T 7,135 428
— Earnings per share — Basic (in cents)  — & RAEF — &K G&EAL) 0.43 0.03
— Diluted (in cents) — 8% (OB 0.43 0.03
Financial Position Bt 7 AR R,
- Total assets —HBEE 40,381 28,375
- Total liabilities —#BE 9,906 3,037
— Shareholders’ funds —REES 30,475 25,338
Financial Ratios B 7% b 2=
— Current ratio — MBI X 6.12 7.76
— Gross profit margin —EBRER 76% 46%
— Net profit margin — BB 1% 1%
— Gearing ratio —BEEAGBLEK 32% 12%
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Chairman’s Statement

The year 2002 was definitely an exciting year and Linux entered its
twelfth year of development. Not only its performance in server
application being recognised by the government and commercial sectors
and believed to secure a double-digit annual growth rate in the future,
Linux also gained recognition from the general public for its desktop
application. Thiz Technology Group Limited has always been committed
to the development of Linux desktop operating systems and its
applications, and gives full supports to the Government’s initiatives of
Linux application promotion and development. Following the formation
of “Thiz Free Software Education Alliance” in 2002, a comprehensive
Linux training programme named Thiz BEST was developed in order to
train professionals in Linux applications development in a progressive
manner. The letter “B” in Thiz BEST represents the Basic programmes,
which focused on Linux desktop systems and office application software.
The letter “E” represents Expert programmes, which emphasises network
administration, system administration and network security. The letter
“S” represents Software engineering programmes, which cover principles
concerning Linux databank and Linux kernel development, in addition
to PHP and Perl used in Linux software as well as C programming and
the Java language used in Linux development. The letter “T” represents
Technical solution programmes, which mainly consisted of knowledge
in development technology transfer, including advanced kernel
development technology, embedded systems technology and system
security technology.

Our mission is to provide training to nurture talents and we, by the way
of it, make contributions to the country. Having entered into agreements
with more than 30 tertiary institutions, e.g., Peking University, Beijing
Normal University, Xian Jiaotong University, Guangzhou Zhongshan
University, for incorporation of our ThizLinux training programmes into
their curriculums, we will not walk alone along the path of Linux. Efforts
of Thiz are all considered as beneficial to our country, our people and
the Group ourselves, achievements will certainly be seen.
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Chairman’s Statement

Looking Ahead

The future for Linux is bright. Linux education is becoming more popular.
The adoption of Linux among enterprises is also on rapid increase.
Governments around the world have been shifting to the Linux platform.
Thiz, as the leader in Linux applications in the Asian region, and among
the top three in the world together with Red Hat from U.S.A. and SuSE
from Germany, is at the best position to lead the market with
phenomenal growth.

We have updated and distinctive quality products in the marketplace.
Thiz is the first Linux applications provider in Asia to receive LSB 1.3
certification for our ThizLinux Desktop 7.0. Our ThizLinux training
courses are recognised by a number of universities. Thiz is also the
authorised institute that can issue a China nation-wide certification on
Linux, including Hong Kong. Government departments in China, Taiwan
and Hong Kong are now using Thiz products. We also partner with
heavy weight partners, such as IBM, HP, Oracle, Sybase, Sun
Microsystems.

Coupled with our total Linux solutions and “Seven Core Businesses”
approach, Thiz provides a wide range of services that looks after Linux
starter to the most sophisticated users of Linux applications. Thiz is
Linux. Linux is Thiz. This one-stop total solutions approach will continue
to put Thiz in a leading position in the enterprises, SMEs, government
and education sectors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the substantial improvement in the results of the Group
compared to the corresponding period in 2002, the Group continues
to actively explore sales and business opportunities, as well as cut
down costs and enhance its market competitiveness. The Group is
committed to enhancing software development and exploring wider
product market around the world in its business plan. Having founded
a solid base in Greater China, the Group is targeting global business
by following seven strategic directions characterised by the “Seven
Core Businesses”, namely (i) Development of Supercomputer on Linux;
(i) Implementation of e-Government; (i) Design solutions for enterprises;
(iv) Introduction of distance education; (v) Innovation of Linux Education
Model; (vi) Establishment of international strategic alliance; and (vii)
Expansion of sales channels.

Following the direction of the “Seven Core Businesses”, the Group has
been making effort to upgrade its own products. Other than the upgrade
of ThizLinux Desktop from Version 6.0 to Version 7.0, ThizOffice from
Version 3.0 to Version 4.0 and ThizServer from Version 6.0 to Version
7.0, we have launched new application software including Thiz Anti-
Virus Desktop 7.0, Thiz Database (Personal Edition) and Thiz Database
(Enterprise Edition) as well as other Highly Available Cluster Applications.

For government sector, the Group was successfully recognised as
desktop solution provider for anti-virus software, desktop system and
office application system by the Hong Kong Government. For business
sector, the Group has formed partnership with several well-known
companies including IBM, HP, Oracle, Sybase and Sun Microsystems.
For education sector, over 100 primary and secondary schools have
used our products and certain training centres including Accom
Education Centre, Hong Kong Federation of Education Workers,
Spherion Education Ltd. and Heung To College of Professional Studies
started to provide training courses on ThizLinux. As to tertiary
institutions, the Group has entered into an agreement with City University
of Hong Kong and agreed to set up an Linux examination centre. The
Group has also received positive response from other universities. It is
believed that courses on ThizLinux will be listed as core or optional
programmes in these institutions in the coming future. In addition, Hong
Kong Productivity Council and Hong Kong Science and Technology
Parks Corporation will incorporate ThizLinux into their organisation
environment, and set up training centre.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Cont’d)

Besides, the Group also made substantial progress in developing its
business in the PRC. The Group has cooperated with Shaanxi Province
government to interface ThizLinux with its e-government office and
information center, and has provided training to 350 civil servants. In
Shenzhen, the Group became the executive of Shenzhen Software
Industry Association, which would promote and broaden the cooperation
on the application of Linux. The Group has also entered into an
agreement with China Electronic Information Application Education
Center, an organisation under China Ministry of Information Industry, in
respect of co-formation of National I.T. Training and Examination
Management Office in Beijing. It is expected to train 175,000 talents in
three years. Participating in “1+1+1 Project”, a campaign co-organised
by the Group’s subsidiary — Beijing Thiz Junye Software Co., Ltd. and
Training School of Beijing IT Industry Promotion Center. The Group
provided training programmes to Beijing government for around 100
Linux teachers, 1,000 Linux engineers and 10,000 Linux users.

For education sector, the Group has entered into agreements with over
30 tertiary institutions including Peking University, Beijing Normal
University, Beijing Institute of Technology, Northeastern University, Xian
Jiaotong University and Guangzhou Zhongshan University to incorporate
courses on ThizLinux and Thiz BEST as core or optional programmes.
After attaining and passing the examination, “International Certificate”
and “National Certificate” will be issued by the Group and China
Electronic Information Application Education Center respectively to the
students. We believe that universities, tertiary institutions and computer
vocational schools in the PRC will be the perfect channels for the
promotion of the use of ThizLinux.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial highlights

The consolidated turnover of the Group for the year ended 31st March,
2003 was HK$64,152,000 (2002: HK$30,392,000), representing an
increase of 111% compared to the previous year. The increase in
revenue of the Group was substantial and was brought by the sale of
computer products and the distribution of Group’s Linux based software
products during the year.

In line with the increase in turnover, gross profit for the Group increased
from HK$13,833,000 in 2002 to HK$48,768,000 in 2003, while the
gross profit margin increased from 45.5% to 76.0%. The major reason
for the sharp rise was due to the increase in the distribution of Linux
based software products that had a much higher profit margins.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont’d)
Financial highlights (Cont’d)

During the year, provision for doubtful debts of HK$11,109,000 had
been made for several outstanding trade debtors. The Group had
actively taken procedures to demand settlements and will take legal
actions in case necessary.

Total operating costs were approximately HK$31,025,000 (2002:
HK$13,426,000). As a percentage to turnover, this represent a slight
increase from 44.2% in 2002 to 48.4% in 20083.

Profit attributable to shareholders and earnings per share for the year
were HK$7,135,000 (2002: HK$428,000) and HK$0.43 cents (2002:
HK$0.03 cents) respectively. Net profit margin increased from 1.4% in
2002 to 11.1% in 2003. The increase was also a result of the increase
in distribution of Linux based software products.

Segment information

The Group is principally engaged in two business segments in two
geographical regions. The Group presented its segment information
based on nature of their operations and the products and services they
provided.

Financial resources and liquidity

As at 31st March, 2003, shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted
to HK$34,475,000 (2002: HK$25,338,000). Current assets amounted
to HK$36,145,000 (2002: HK$23,565,000), of which HK$1,212,000
(2002: HK$14,615,000) were cash and bank deposits. Current liabilities
of HK$5,906,000 (2002: HK$3,037,000) mainly comprised of its trade
payables, other payables and accruals, and amounts due to Directors.
Current ratio of the Group was 6.1 (2002: 7.8).

As at 31st March, 2003, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$30,239,000 (2002: HK$20,528,000). The Directors
considered the Group’s liquidity position was healthy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont’d)

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio calculated on the basis of total liabilities over
shareholders’ funds as at 31st March, 2003 is 32.5% (2002: 12.0%).
The increase was due to the issue of HK$4,000,000 unlisted convertible
notes and increase in funds advanced from the Directors during the
year.

Unlisted convertible notes

On 17th January, 2003, the Group issued HK$4,000,000 unlisted
convertible notes bearing interest rate of 2.5% per annum, with maturity
at 16th January, 2006. The notes are convertible into new shares of
the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.04 per share. Proceeds
from the issue of unlisted convertible notes had been used as general
working capital of the Group. Full particulars of the convertible notes
are set out in the announcement dated 17th January, 2003.

Exposure to foreign exchange risk

The functional currencies of the Group’s operations are Hong Kong
dollars, Renminbi (“RMB”) and New Taiwan Dollars (“NT$”). The Directors
consider that the potential foreign exchange exposure of the Group is
limited.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31st March, 2003, the Group had no charges or pledge of assets
and material contingent liabilities.

Capital commitments

On 28th March, 2002, a joint venture agreement was entered into by
the Company, Eaglemax International Investment Limited (“ElIL”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, and Beijing Normal
University (“BNU”) in relation to the formation of a sino-foreign equity
joint venture, JingShi ThizLinux Laboratory Stock Company (the “JV”).
Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, the Company, ElIL and BNU
are committed to contribute RMB15,000,000, RMB15,000,000 and
RMB20,000,000 respectively for their respective interests of 30%, 30%
and 40% in the JV. However, there is no payment schedule specified
in the joint venture agreement.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont’d)

Capital commitments (Cont’d)

On 3rd June, 2002, the Company, EIIL and BNU entered into a joint
venture supplemental agreement whereby the three parties agreed to
set up/develop the 100 JingShi Thizlinux Internet Course Programs
(the “Programs”). Under the joint venture supplemental agreement, each
of the Company and EIIL is committed to investing RMB10,000,000 for
the development of the Programs whereas BNU is not required to
invest capital but will be responsible for the development, design of
the courses and the provision of course contents. There is no investment
schedule specified in the supplemental agreement.

At 31st March, 2003, the Group and the Company had capital
commitments contracted for but not provided for in relation to the
formation of the JV amounted to RMB15,000,000 (2002: Nil) and the
development of the Programs amounted to RMB10,000,000 (2002: Nil)
in the PRC.

Employees and remuneration policies

Human resource capital is a major resource of the Group. The Group
recognised this by providing substantial opportunities on the job, and
encourage personal development and training of the staff.

As at 31st March, 2003, the Group had about 80 employees, including
Directors of the Company. Total staff costs for the year under review
including Directors’ remuneration amounted to approximately
HK$15,071,000 (2002: HK$10,222,000). The overall workforce had been
very stable and turnover rate remains very low. The staff were
remunerated based on their work performance, professional experience
and prevailing market practices. In addition to basic salaries and
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, the Group also offered staff benefits
including medical insurance, share options, performance bonus and
sales commission.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

USE OF PROCEEDS

The proceeds from the issue of new shares of the Company pursuant
to a placing in July 2001 after deduction of related expenses, amounted
to approximately HK$26,000,000. Included in the above net proceeds
of HK$26,000,000, approximately HK$5,100,000 and HK$5,000,000
was planned to provide additional working capital of the Group and
reserve for future investment opportunities or contribution to other joint
ventures for the development of Linux solutions respectively. The
remaining net proceeds was planned and applied up to 31st March,
2003. The excess amount used had been financed by the above-
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FAET FAET
Contribution to the joint ventures to develop EE A E D ERELinux
application software on Linux FE A Bt 4,000 3,494
Setting up sales office in Beijing EARRIEHENSE 3,000 4,684
Marketing and promotion MEHEEREE 3,000 4,068
Enhancement of the Group’s existing 2 R 7N 55 [ 3R B LinuxE mn
Linux products 2,000 6,393
Development of web applications and other Fa'ﬁ ?f‘é Wi ERER REA
computing products/services BS E f BR7 500 3,433
Purchase of hardware equipment ,5% BREGHE 400 759
Total & 12,900 22,831

Amounts are extracted from the Company’s prospectus dated 20th July,
2001 issued in relation to the Company’s placing and proposed listing
of shares on GEM.
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PROGRESS AGAINST BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

Develop and improve ThizLinux

2R R BRI LinuxRE £

Develop application software on
Linux platform with joint venture
partners
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Business objectives
up to 31st March, 2003
as stated in prospectus
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- Launch ThizLinux desktop
version to run in Japanese

- Launch ThizLinux desktop
version to run in ltalian and
German
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ThizLinux 5 & AR 2
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- Launch the accounting software
that runs on Linux

- Distribute the accounting
software that runs on Linux in the
PRC

—  Start development work of web-
based education platform with
Yuan Wang

—  Continue development of web-
based education platform with
Yuan Wang

— HHALnux EBREZ G EMG

— EFBESHERLnuxERIEZE
AT E

- HREZEHMALHEBEFTLHAE
JCHE

- HERPEERAERLHETA

E S

EEEwHEDN

FHEREBEE 2LER

Actual business progress
up to 31st March, 2003
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- It has been completed and
launched

- It has been completed and
launched

- CEKLEH

~ BEAHH

—  The plan to develop the software
in house has been suspended
and is in the process of locating
suitable partners

- ditto

- in the course of studying the
possibility of developing in house
=iditte
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PROGRESS AGAINST BUSINESS OBJECTIVES S

(Cont’d)

Develop Linux compatible web
application software based on
features of the Group’s portals
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Marketing strategies

™5 R R

Business objectives
up to 31st March, 2003
as stated in prospectus
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- Develop and launch Linux
compatible e-shop software with
uploading function
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- Road show tour in the PRC to

promote the Group’s Linux
products

— Joint promotion with Yuan Wang

and Great Asia

- RABRENTKEEEHERSE
B 7 LinuxE @

&

- BRAEEREZBRETEEE

i

Al

%

(%48

T=FFH DRNHEERRAF

EHEEwHE DN

EREEREREE LR

Actual business progress
up to 31st March, 2003
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—  The project is expected to be
completed in mid 2003
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—  The Group is actively promoting
Linux products in various
universities and educational
institutions in the PRC through
providing courses on ThizLinux

—  Software development plan with
Yuan Wang and Great Asia has
been suspended. Instead, the
Group itself is making much
effort in promoting and upgrading
its line of Linux products
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Chairman

Mr. Lin, aged 49, graduated from the Economic Faculty of Taiwan
University and had involved in research studies in Harvard and Standford
Business Schools. He had been the Vice President of Holtek
Semiconductor Manufacturing Co., Ltd. Besides, he had also been
the Chief Financial Officer of United Microelectronics Corporation, a
semi-conductor manufacturer whose shares are listed in the Stock
Exchange of Taiwan, and had been working there for about 18 years.
He has in-depth knowledge in financial management. He was appointed
as Executive Director and Chairman of the Group on 24th December,
2002.

Ms. Wanzi Huang

Deputy Chairman

Ms. Wanzi Huang, aged 28, is the Deputy Chairman and a founder of
the Group. She had about 6 years’ experience in computer trading and
international trading. She is responsible for marketing the Group’s Linux
products to computer manufacturers in the U.S.. Ms. Huang graduated
with a Bachelor’s Degree in Administration in Fundagao Getulio Vargas
in Brazil.

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Executive Director

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, aged 48, is an Executive Director and a founder
of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 23 years’ experience in sales and
marketing, in particular in electronics and computer industries. Mr.
Wong was the Chairman of Association of Electronic Components
Industry of Taipei from 1990 to 1993. He oversees the sales and
marketing strategies of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the
Department of Industrial Management of Tamsui Oxford College in
Taiwan with a diploma.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Li Zhe

Ms. Li Zhe, aged 33, is a qualified PRC lawyer. Ms. Li graduated with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Economic Law from Zhongshan University, the
PRC, a Master’s Degree of Business Administration from Murdoch
University, Australia and a Postgraduate Diploma in Law from the
Manchester Metropolitan University of the United Kingdom. Ms. Li has
served a number of law firms in the PRC and Hong Kong. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in July 2001.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

Mr. Kwok Ming Wa

Mr. Kwok Ming Wa, aged 41, is the Director and Vice President of
Beijing - Hong Kong Academic Exchange Centre which has been set
up for the promotion of exchange and cooperative work in academic
and technological areas between Hong Kong and the PRC. He used to
be a member of the executive committee of Hong Kong New Generation
Cultural Association. Mr. Kwok graduated from the Peking University,
the PRC with a Bachelor’s Degree in Petrology and Geochemistry and
a Master’s Degree in Remote Sensing Technology. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in July 2001.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Ping

Ms. Chan Ping, aged 41, the General Manager of the Group and is
responsible for the strategic planning, management and business
development on Linux Education. Ms. Chan has about 10 years of
experience in science and technology management in PRC and
company operation management in Hong Kong. Ms. Chan graduated
with a Bachelor's Degree in Geochemistry from Peking University, the
PRC, and a Master's Degree in Computer Mathematics from China
Academy of Geology Science. She joined the Group in March 2002.

Mr. So King Yan

Mr. So King Yan, aged 28, is the R&D Manager of the Group, overseeing
Linux development projects. Mr. So has over 10 years of experience in
computer and Linux programming. He graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree and Master of
Philosophy Degree in Computer Science and Engineering, and had
conducted research on mobile file system in Linux. Prior to joining the
Group in August 2001, he had involved in the design and development
of a marketing platform based on J2EE technology using Weblogic and
Oracle on Linux platform. He also tutored undergraduate computer
courses on Linux at The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Sai Yan

Mr. Chan Sai Yan, aged 28, is the Accounting Manager of the Group,
and Company Secretary, Qualified Accountant and Authorised
Representative of the Company, and is responsible for the Group's
accounting and finance functions. Mr. Chan has over 6 years of
experience in accounting and finance in Hong Kong. He graduated
with a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, and is an Associate Member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He joined the Group in December
2002.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31st March, 2003.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2003 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 43.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31st March, 2003.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
four years ended 31st March, 2003 is set out on page 90.

FIXED ASSETS

The Group purchased fixed assets amounted to approximately
HK$1,474,000 during the year. Details of movements in fixed assets of
the Company and the Group are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the principal terms of the convertible notes issued during the
year are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
and the reason thereof are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 48
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31st March, 20083, the Company’s distributable reserves
amounted to HK$11,426,000.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its shares on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and these shares were
subsequently cancelled by the Company. The repurchase of the
Company’s shares during the year were effected by the directors,
with a view to benefiting the shareholders as a whole by enhancing
the net assets value per share and earnings per share of the Company.
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Details of the shares repurchased are as follows:— FrEg B i (eI an T -

Number of
ordinary

shares of Price per share Aggregate

Date of repurchase HK$0.01 each Highest Lowest consideration
BREE

0.018BTZ BRER

i H H EEREA RE 1K BRE

HK$ HK$ HK$

7 TT B TT T

16th August, 2002 —EEZFNA+AB 8,440,000 0.236 0.235 1,999,000

Except for the foregoing, neither the Company nor any of its B Eatt BN RNA E] S H AT B A EAiW

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.
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DIRECTORS
The directors who held office during the year were:-

Executive directors:
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Ms. Wanzi Huang
Mr. Li Sze Tang

(appointed on 24th December, 2002)

(resigned on 5th December, 2002)

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. Li Zhe
Mr. Kwok Ming Wa

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Ms. Wanzi Huang shall retire and, being eligible, offers herself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Ms. Li Zhe and Mr. Kwok Ming Wa were not appointed for a specific
term as they are subject to retirement and re-election at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Ms. Li Zhe and Mr. Kwok Ming Wa shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements, no other contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31st March, 2003, the interests of the directors in the share capital
of the Company, as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 29 of the Securities (Disclosure of
Interests) Ordinance (the “SDI Ordinance”), were as follows:—

—TT=FFF NRNAKERRAF

49

EEEHE

EENB 2R
R-ZBZ=F=—A=1+—H REEH (KE
) P (TREERIRD ) F29RFEZ
ARBBRREMAR BEEERNRABRAHE
BzrEmmT:

Number of shares held and nature of interests

FEROGEERESMEE

Personal
Name of director interests
EEHE (PN
Lin Chien Hsin R 250,000,000
Wong Hoi Wong (Note) TE (&) -
Wanzi Huang = I H 69,725,000

Note: These shares are registered in the name of Eaglemax International
Investment Limited (“EIIL”), a company owned by Intelligent
Management Limited (“IML”) as the trustee of Intelligent Management
Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary trust, the objects of which
include Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, his family and any charity in the world.
As at 31st March, 2003, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong held the entire issued
share capital of IML.

The interests of the directors in the share options of the Company are
separately disclosed in the section headed “Share option scheme”
below.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or their associates
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests in the equity
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SDI Ordinance.

Family Corporate Other
interests interests interests
KRR = AEER H fth 8 &=
- - 360,000,000

BizE: 3% % B 15 J9 LA Eaglemax International
Investment Limited ([ElIL] ) = & % & #
A ° 3% /A 7 | Intelligent Management Limited
(TIML] ) KA K ik 2 # {5 5t Intelligent
Management Discretionary TrustZ 25 A &
DHEE ZEGIZRABEEINEEER
HRXBUREHRIMESZEE - R_TT=
FZA=1+—H FIEEEFFMLEIHE
BITRRA -

EERNARREREPAEREN XK
fEEtEl ] — SR EERIRE-

BREXWEEN MEBENETHAREIHE
ATEARRFXEEFEREE (ERX R FE
BEGE) cBAZBHZFHERAETMEA KK
DA HE M
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”), which
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 6th July, 2001, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any full-time executive director or
employee of a company within the Group. The Scheme shall remain in
force for 10 years from 6th July, 2001 during which the directors may
make offer to grant share options to eligible participants.

Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, the maximum number of share
options permitted to be granted is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of
commencement of dealings of the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM?”) unless further shareholders’ approval has been obtained (See
remark (i)), and the maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each participant in the Scheme shall not exceed 25% of the
maximum number of share options which may be granted under the
Scheme (See remark (ii)).

Remarks: Since the adoption of the Scheme on 6th July, 2001,
amendments have been made to Chapter 23 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) in respect of Share Option Scheme whereby
if the Company wishes to continue to grant options under
the Scheme on or after 1st October, 2001, it must also
comply with the requirements set out therein.

(i) with effect from 1st October, 2001, the maximum
number of the Company’s shares which can be
granted under the Scheme and any other schemes
must not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in
issue at the date of approval.

(ii) with effect from 1st October, 2001, the maximum
number of the Company’s shares which can be
granted to each participant must not in any 12-month
period exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue.

EFEH

I

BT E

ARRREBER-_ZZT—FLANBBEBIR
EERME IR B ([5181)) 3 EER
ZEHAEEEGERIEERMNAERZHE
ALEHRBRREE-AEZ2AERSEA
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M+ F E2URZMARAER2EAL
BT WcE-
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FR) AARBRDHABARNESB SRS
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BB BTN Z210%5 LR BRIEB BTE
SRR E (F2HEME>N)  SIREEKRE
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25% (B 2 B M FE () °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Any grant of share options to a connected person (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) must be approved by the independent non-
executive directors. Where share options are proposed to be granted
to a connected person who is also a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his/her
respective associates, and the proposed grant of share options, when
aggregate with the options already granted to that connected person
in the past 12-month period, would entitle him/her to receive more
than 0.1% of the total issued share capital of the Company for the
time being and the value of which is in excess of HK$5 million, then
the proposed grant must be subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company in general meetings.

The consideration for the grant of an option is HK$1 each. An option
may be exercised at any time during a period as determined by the
directors which shall not be less than three years and not more than
ten years from the date of acceptance of options offered under the
Scheme by the grantee.

A summary of the movements of the share options granted under the
Scheme during the year is as follows:—

Number of share options

BREHA

—TT=FFF NRNAKERRAF

BT S (&)

MEEAL (EERAERLETRA) BT
] BE AR AE L BBV B FEMTTE B 2 #HE < 1
BEBEALIRAQRTERRE (& AAI%
REMBA) KFEETMABEALETER
BE-mBEREsBREEZZEEATERE
+oEAEEERL ZEBREANBERES
EESEARAEREZETRAAERB
0.1% B 1A B {E B % 5,000,000/ T £ % 1B
M BREBEREEZZEESEAQRIREER
RAREHE HFEBBER-

BOHRLZBRERES VBT MBRER
REEETE < PREBER1TE % BEE B
RAZMET IR TRERERMES ToR=
FimX BB+ F

FARBHERLZBREZSHRMT

Price of
Outstanding Company’s
Outstanding Lapsed and vested Exercise shares at
as at during as at Date of price Exercise date of
Grantee 1.4.2002 the year 31.3.2003 grant per share period grant
R-%%=
R-BE-F = L D BR G
MA-H RER BAEMm BR REHBH
EEA e K176 K¥ ESGRES KB # TRE TR 2B
(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 1) (Note 4)
HK$ HK$
(B &E2) (F=£3) (FzE1) (B zE4)
BT BT
Executive director
HTES
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong 1,640,000 = 1,640,000 21st 0.315 30th June, 3.15
FAlERAE November, 2002 to 29th
2001 June, 2012
—TT-§ g3 g2
+—HA=1t-8 ~NA=tRE
—ET-CF
~NAZT AR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Number of share options

BREHE

Price of

Outstanding Company’s

Outstanding Lapsed and vested Exercise shares at

as at during as at Date of price Exercise date of

Grantee 1.4.2002 the year 31.3.2003 grant per share period grant

F B2E=F

R-ZE=-F A=t+-H XRAE KRG

MA—H RER BEMm =30 REHBEH

ARA fef R AT R fel K47 2 Rt B8 B TR ZE®

(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 1) (Note 4)

HK$ HK$

(i &E2) (F7E3) (B &) (FzE4)

BT BT

Ms. Wanzi Huang 16,540,000 - 16,540,000 21st 0.315 30th June, BAl5:
ERBA L November, 2002 to 29th
2001 June, 2012
—2F-F k3 k2
+—B=t-H AA=tEE
==k
~NAZ+AR

Mr. Li Sze Tang 3,280,000* (3,280,000) - 21st 0.315 30th June, 3.15
M % & November, 2002 to 29th
2001 June, 2012
—TT-§ —TTF
Rl AB=tEE
=T
NAZT+HAE

2 employees 18,180,000 (18,180,000) - 21st 0.315 30th June, g8
(excluding Mr. Li November, 2002 to 29th
Sze Tang’s spouse) 2001 June, 2012
MEEE (TBE “TT-F e 3
MAREE 2 BER) BRI S e [
—E——F
=T AIE

39,640,000 (21,460,000) 18,180,000
¢ The number of share options granted to Mr. Li Sze Tang included % AEEEEER ZBRESE BIEERE

1,640,000 share options granted to Mr. Li Sze Tang’s spouse who was

also a former employee of the Group.

(mRAEEAE
10 BB A -

8) AT 2 1,640,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

The exercise price is to be determined by the directors in its absolute
discretion but in any event not less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company; (i) the average of the closing
prices of the shares of the Company on the GEM for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date on which the relevant option is
granted to the employee; and (iii) the closing price of the shares of
the Company on the GEM on the date on which the relevant option is
granted.

Note:

1. The share options are fully vested on 30th June, 2002.

2. The number of share options has been adjusted for the subdivision of
the Company’s shares on 23rd January, 2002.

&) The exercise price of the share options has been adjusted for the
subdivision of the Company’s shares on 23rd January, 2002.

4. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the

grant of the share options is the closing price on the GEM on the
trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the options.

During the year, 21,460,000 share options lapsed because the
grantees ceased their employment with the Group.

No share option was granted and cancelled during the year.

At 31st March, 2003, the number of shares to be issued under share
options granted under the Scheme was 18,180,000, representing
1.10% of the issued share capital of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from those as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
interests in securities” and in note 24 to the financial statements, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding
companies or subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Company’s directors, their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

— =% HRNMEEERAA

BT S (&)

EETRABHBBREETEE EERD
ATABERTI=EFRRE)NARBRNE
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oz Wi
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AFTE-

2. EREHEERAR AR _EE_F—A=
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3. BEREZTEEERARAR-_ZTT _F—
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4. PR BB AN X B AR D IO 4% H B LA B B 2 (B4
TiiElR MR EER BB RERBRNZ S A
FERIZER W TE-

21,460,00017 f& BB 1Y F M A AR A 8 LER AR
SE 2 ERm KRR

FRIER G REHTARBRE

R-ZEZE=F=A=+—H RBEFEREZ
AR TR K EE &18,180,0000% ' 1h
ARAAEBEITRA1.10% ©

EEBARDAGES 2B

BREXTEERES 2w RMBHRERWME
APTIRFEE S AN B S AR AT AR X A Kt
BRARRFEFAREBELTARZHE BERAQF
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31st March, 2003, the following interests of 10% or more of the
share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 16(1) of the
SDI Ordinance:—

Name

=y

ElL ElIL

Applied Component ST )
Technology Corporation B R A A

Lin Chien Hsin MREET

Save as disclosed above, no other person had registered an interest in
the share capital of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 16(1) of the SDI Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ interests in
securities” and “Substantial shareholders” above, as at 31st March,
2003, no other person was individually and/or collectively entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
general meetings of the Company and was able, as a practical matter,
to direct or influence the management of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the purchases from the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for approximately 86.32% of the total purchases of
the Group and the purchases from the largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 67.43%.

The sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 89.32% of the total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately
72.95%.

None of the directors, their respective associates and shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in any
of the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group for the year.

Number of shares held

T— B REART
()MTEZ%.:EH%%
N BEERRBRAPI0%HIA EERZE

Percentage of shareholding

Frisi 4 8B FREDH
360,000,000 21.87%
324,340,000 19.70%
250,000,000 15.19%
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules during
the year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the directors, the substantial shareholders or the management
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests
in any business which competed with or might compete with the
business of the Group.

SPONSOR’S INTERESTS

As updated and notified by the Company’s sponsor, CSC Asia Limited
(“CSC”), neither CSC nor any of its directors, employees or associates
had any interests in any shares of the Company or any member of
the Group, or any right to subscribe for or to nominate persons to
subscribe for the shares of the Company or any member of the Group
as at 31st March, 2003.

Pursuant to the sponsorship agreement dated 19th July, 2001 entered
into between the Company and CSC, CSC will act as the Company’s
continuing sponsor for the period from 27th July, 2001 to 31st March,
2004.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 5.28 TO 5.39 OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

The Company has complied with Rules 5.28 to 5.39 of the GEM
Listing Rules concerning board practices and procedures during the
year ended 31st March, 20083.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee in August 2001 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.23 to 5.25 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The duties of the audit committee are to
review and to provide supervision over the financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Group. The audit committee
comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms. Li
Zhe and Mr. Kwok Ming Wa.

During the year, the audit committee has met four times to review the
results of the Group.
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AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. PKF, is to be
proposed at the forthcoming general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lin Chien Hsin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23rd June, 2003
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

26/F, Citicorp Centre
18 Whitfield Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

To the members of
Thiz Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 43 to 89 which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDITORS

The Company'’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial
statements which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
audit, on those statements and to report our opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s and the
Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at 31st March, 2003
and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PKF
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23rd June, 2003
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31st March, 2003

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Provision for doubtful debts

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Profit from operations

Finance costs

Share of profit/(loss) of a jointly
controlled entity

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit attributable to shareholders

Dividend

Earnings per share

— Basic (in cents)

— Diluted (in cents)

T HNKNAEERRQA

2003 2002
—EE=F —EBT_F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B & FTHET FHET
E % 4 64,152 30,392
$H & A AR (15,384) (16,559)
E7 48,768 13,833
H At g A 4 422 774
KRB (11,109) -
HERDIHER (3,831) (605)
—METHRER (27,194) (12,821)
Pl 7,056 1,181
A& AR (20) (122)
J& 5 — il L [R) #22 il 1 3¢
wH, (B1E) 99 (625)
B 758 B 4 5 7,135 434
BiIA 8 - (6)
R R FE A8 4 A 9 TTEE 428
fix 2 10 - i
ZRAF 11
— B2 () 0.43 0.03
—#8 (1) 0.43 0.03
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At 31st March, 2003

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed assets
Interest in a jointly controlled entity
Product development costs
Goodwill

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments
Amount due from a related company
Pledged time deposit
Cash and bank balances

DEDUCT:

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Other payables, accruals and
deposits received
Amounts due to directors
Taxation

NET CURRENT ASSETS
NET ASSETS
REPRESENTING:-
SHARE CAPITAL
RESERVES
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible notes
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Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

23rd June, 2003

Lin Chien Hsin
PRE

Director

EF

Wong Hoi Wong
e
Director
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36,145 e

540 .
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Balance Sheet
At 31st March, 2003

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed assets
Interests in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables, deposits
and prepayments
Pledged time deposit
Cash and bank balances

DEDUCT:
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payable and accruals
Amount due to a director

NET CURRENT ASSETS
NET ASSETS
REPRESENTING:-
SHARE CAPITAL
RESERVES
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible notes

Approved and authorised for issue by

23rd June, 2003

Lin Chien Hsin
ME

Director
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the Board of Directors on

EF

%

o

BEER

GBEE

iy

R &

R-EE=F=H=+—H

Note
B 5

12
13

22

23

25

26

EA*E =

— ==

RE®T

P ENTEEERA A

2003 2002
—EE=F —EFE—F
HK$°000 $'000
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Thiz Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2003

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement s
For the year ended 31st March, 2003 #;

2003 2002
—BE=F —EET_F
Note HK$°000 HK$’'000
H 2% FH& T FET
CASH FLOWS FROM REXEBHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation B 5% B g A 7,135 434
Adjustment for:— o EE
Interest income FE WA (8) (179)
Interest expenses B RHX 20 122
Provision for doubtful debts REREH 11,109 -
Bad debts written off £ 85 5 R 560 -
Provision for inventories FERE = 155
Impairment loss of goodwill RSN 686 =
Loss on disposal of fixed assets LEBREEESE 288 12
Share of (profit)/loss of JE b — A FE R 2 ol 1 %

a jointly controlled entity CaFl) /&8 (99) 625
Depreciation e 561 177
Amortisation 5 679 84

Operating profit before working EEESEBR 2
capital changes 5 20,931 1,430
Increase in inventories £ &8 (285) (153)
Increase in trade receivables JFE U B 78 12 AN (87,105) (5,049)
Increase in other receivables, Hin W FRIR &
deposits and prepayments K B A5 FR0E 12 7]1] (556) (2,209)
Increase in amount due from a JEW — A i
related company FRIE 2N (6) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged ERIFEHRFRRLD
time deposit (B n) 300 (300)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables JE{FERIE (F 4 ) /1 11 (366) 528
(Decrease)/increase in other payables, b &~ 3R I8 - FE T 7 IE &
accruals and deposits received Bz E O d) /#in (74) 1,387
Increase/(decrease) in amounts FENEERAEE M,
due to directors CRL ) 3,280 (1,834)
Decrease in amounts due to FE S A B A 5] ZUIE R >
related companies - (879)
Effect on foreign exchange SN IERBE) 2 &
rate changes 1 )
Cash used in operations KELBFARS (13,880) (6,574)
Interest received 2 F 2 8 179
Interest paid B F B - (122)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBARTFR
ACTIVITIES (13,872) 6,517)



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st March, 2003 HE-_FT=F=-A=+1—HIFE
2003 2002
—EE=F —EEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F& T FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBZ2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Advance to a jointly controlled entity — # F — R KR =& % (170) (1,002)
Payments to acquire fixed assets REBEEE 2R (1,419) (1,147)
Sales proceeds of fixed assets & B E B EERIE 105 =
Product development expenditure EmAZERX
incurred - (3,396)
Net cash outflow from acquisition WE—FNB AR Z
of a subsidiary IR & F R 27 (48) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZBMAREFHE
ACTIVITIES (1,582 (6,545)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MELTB2REERE
ACTIVITIES
Placing of shares fic & AR 17 - 30,940
Share issue expenses AR 1D 4T X = (4,766)
Issue of convertible notes TR R R R 4,000 =
Repurchase of shares LA &) (1,999) =
NET CASH FROM FINANCING REEE 2R ST
ACTIVITIES Si e R LI R = 0 e e 2,001 __...26,174
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE INCASH B & RBEEZEHIEHR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OB ) /G nFaE (13,403) 14,112
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENzREREASZEE
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR BB 14,615 503
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR = JE = A Bl 2 e
AT 31ST MARCH HeZ@EER 1,212 14,615
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND ReRkBEEEEBA DM
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances He RFTET 1,212 14,615
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

At 1.4.2001

Arising on the reorganisation

Capitalisation of loans
from shareholders

Placing of shares
Premium arising on placing
Share issue expenses
Capitalisation issue
Exchange adjustment
on translation of the
financial statements of

foreign subsidiaries

Profit attributable to
shareholders

At 31.3.2002 and
1.4.2002

Repurchase of shares

Exchange adjustment
on translation of the
financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries

Profit attributable to
shareholders

At 31.3.2003
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Capital
Share Share  redemption Special Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EXER
REx  ROEE wE  BHRE EiRE  EHEB # st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TR TR TR THET THT TR
(Note 25(i))
(it ¥ 25(i)

1 - - 380 - (11,573) (11,192)

20 - - (20) - - -

7 9,916 - - - - 9,923
2,600 - - - - - 2,600
- 28,340 - - - - 28,340
- (4,766) - - - - (4,766)
13,917 (13,917) - = - - »
- - - - 5 - 5

- - - - - 428 428
16,545 19,573 - 360 5 (11,145) 25,338
(84) (1,915) 84 - - (84) (1,999)

- - - - 1 - 1

- - - - - 7,135 7,135
16,461 17,658 84 360 6 (4,094) 30,475




Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
(Cap. 22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands on 6th December, 2000.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”)
on 27th July, 2001.

On 11th October, 2002, the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission approved the establishment of Level 1
American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) program for the Company’s
shares in the United States of America.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below:—

(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and comply with Statements of Standard
Accounting Practice (“SSAPs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants (“HKSA”) and are prepared under
the historical cost convention.

In the current year, the Group adopted the following
applicable SSAPs issued by the HKSA which are effective
for the current year’s financial statements:—

SSAP 1 (revised) Presentation of financial
statements

SSAP 11 (revised) Foreign currency translation

SSAP 15 (revised) Cash flow statements

SSAP 34 Employee benefits
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

The effect of adopting the revised SSAP 1 is that the
requirement for presenting a statement of recognised
gains and losses has been changed to presenting a
statement of changes in equity. Accordingly, the
presentation in the current year’s statement of changes
in equity has been modified in order to conform to the

requirements of the revised SSAP.

The main revision to SSAP 15 is to require the provision
of information about the historical changes in cash and
cash equivalents of an enterprise by means of a cash
flow statement which classifies cash flows during the
year into operating, investing and financing activities
whereas the old SSAP specifies two additional standard
headings: “Returns on investments and servicing of
finance” and “Taxation”. In addition, the definition of cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow

statement has been revised.

The new SSAP 34 requires an enterprise to recognise
the service provided by an employee in exchange for
employee benefits to be paid in the future as a liability,
and when the enterprise consumes the economic benefit
arising from service provided by an employee in exchange
for employee benefits as expenses. The adoption of the
SSAP has not had any significant impact on these

financial statements.

The effect of adopting SSAP 11 (revised) is set out in the

accounting policies below.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The comparative consolidated financial statements have
been prepared using merger accounting by regarding
the Company as being the holding company of the Group
from the beginning of the earliest period prepared.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31st March each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. All
significant intra-group transactions and balances have
been eliminated on consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase
consideration over the attributable share of the fair value
of separable net assets of a subsidiary at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill is stated in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost less aggregate amortisation and any
impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over
its estimated useful life of not more than 20 years.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.
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Notes to Financial Statements B &K & M
For the year ended 31st March, 2003 HE—TT=F=-A=1+—HIFFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. FESEEX (8)
(d)  Segment reporting (Cont’d) (d) 2DEBEI®E)
Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities SERAN B EE BER
include items directly attributable to a segment as well BEBRBESBEEEZEELIER -
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to WARERBEEDEEZD
that segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and HooBWA X BEKE
liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and BEREHEEARRIHGER R
intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the SERNARARS (KFE8KE
consolidation process, except to the extent that such Bz )RiEE HBRE—
intra-group balances and transactions are between group PENEEAARME &R K
enterprises within a single segment. R 5 B ER G
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred DEEARTIEHRABEME
during the period to acquire segment assets (both EiR[E AR — Rz A
tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for REESBEEEMEEK AR
more than one period. B
Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate AHOBEEEXTZRFENB LD
assets, borrowings, corporate and financing expenses. ¥EE - BE ELUBH
i o
(e) Revenue recognition (e) WARER

Distribution income of Linux based software products
developed by the Group is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods have
been transferred to the buyer.

Commission income is recognsied when the services are
rendered.

Income from rendering of artwork and web design
services is recognised at the time the services are
provided.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis,
taking into account the principal amounts outstanding
and the interest rates applicable.

53 85 72N &8 B BT A 3% 2 LinuxER {4
= FT 15 WA R U ER R 1B 2 1
A 7 32 HT R o
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WA B B BR 75 1R 1A B e R o

BT A TS 1= B ) B 9 B AR P
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f)

Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost less aggregate
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its present working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the assets have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the
income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use
of the asset, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of the asset.

The gain or loss on disposal of the fixed assets
representing the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the relevant assets
is recognised in the income statement.

Depreciation is calculated to write down the costs of
fixed assets to their estimated residual values on a
straight line basis over the following estimated useful
lives:—

Computer equipment -
Office equipment -
Furniture and fixtures -

3 years
3 years to 7 years
5 years to 7 years

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an enterprise over which the Company
has control either directly or indirectly. Control is the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of a
company so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any impairment losses. Income
from subsidiaries is recognised in the Company’s financial
statements on the basis of dividends declared by the
subsidiaries.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

Jointly controlled entity

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture company which
is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the
participating parties having unilateral control over the
economic activity of the jointly controlled entity.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
reserves of a jointly controlled entity is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. The Group’s interest in a jointly
controlled entity is stated in the consolidated balance
sheet at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the projects are
clearly defined; the expenditure is separately identifiable
and can be measured reliably; there is reasonable
certainty that the projects are technically feasible; and
the products have commercial value. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are amortised using a
straight line basis over the expected economic useful
lives of the products, subject to a maximum period of
five years commencing in the year when the products
are put into commercial production.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

()

Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis and includes all costs of purchase and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the leases transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
the income statement on a straight line basis over the
terms of the relevant leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, annual leave entitlements and
the cost to the Group of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are

rendered by employees of the Group.

Obligations for contributions to retirement plans, including
contributions payable under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) central pension scheme,
are recognised as an expense in the income statement

as incurred.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is

without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

When the Group grants employees options to acquire
shares of the Company for nil consideration, no employee
benefit cost or obligation is recognised at the date of
grant. When the options are exercised, equity is increased

by the amount of the proceeds received.

(n) Convertible notes

Convertible notes are separately disclosed and regarded
as liabilities unless conversion actually occurs. The
associated finance cost is recognised in the income
statement on an accrual basis while the associated costs
of issue are charged immediately to the income statement

when it is incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(0)

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
If the effect is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific
to the liability.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future event not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will
be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements. When a change in
the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(@)

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the market exchange rates
ruling at the balance sheet date. Differences on foreign
currency translation are dealt with in the income
statement.

In prior years, the financial statements of the Company’s
overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the market exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange differences arising on such
translation are dealt with in the exchange reserve.

With effect from 1st April, 2002, with the introduction of
SSAP 11 (revised), the consolidated financial statements
are prepared by using the net investment method such
that the balance sheets of the Company’s overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
market exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date,
while their income statements are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Any exchange
differences arising on such translation are dealt with in
the exchange reserve.

There is no material impact to the financial results and
the financial position of the Group by the adoption of
this revised SSAP.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is calculated under the liability method
in respect of the taxation effect arising from all timing
differences which are expected with reasonable probability
to crystallise in the foreseeable future. A deferred tax
asset is not recognised until its realisation is assured
beyond reasonable doubt.

Bz

2.

—EE=F=ZA=1—HIFE
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(a)
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FRIIERFEIHAZIE
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Notes to Financial Statements B &K & M
For the year ended 31st March, 2003 HE—TT=F=-A=1+—HIFFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. TEEHEE (&)

(s) Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common
control or common significant influence.

(t) Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment
formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by business
segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by
geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers
products and services which are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business segments.
Summary details of the business segments are as follows:—

(a) the software development segment engages in
development and sales of Linux based software products;
and

(b) the computer products segment engages in B2B
e-commerce in respect of trading of computer products.

(s) HBHEEAL

fief {F fa] — 73 7] B % 2k Pl % 22
A= HHAEELM SR EE
REDTEHR—FTITEERE
7 RNMHETHKEIZMAE
HERHREALREZED
AIEFALIHRASBREA
+o

() BEZEEA
oS EAR T B SR A

BEAZBERermERBEH
"E BEAZFHRAM T KN

2 BER
SEERUATMBHEEEZH () &
EBOETETEHHE S WEE: B (i)
i KT R E S S WA

NEBEQEEBRBEEEBEER
iRt ERMREEHEE ¥ B
ER - ASESEB S HRRHER
KRR 2 KB 75 B - I B fth 2
BoBE 2R RERNE-EEDLE
EARERI U

(@) EMFFEED R ELinuxE
EmABERHEE &

b EMERSR AERER
PETHEAF AR FERES
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues
are attributed to the segments based on the location of the
customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on
the location of the assets.

(a) Business segments
The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and

certain assets, liabilities and expenditure information for
the Group’s business segments.

M ® KM

Bz

Software development

—EE=F=ZA=1—HIFE

TRER (&)

REEAEE ZMESAMS WA
DEREFPMEME D BEAIREE
PREHE 2

(a) XBoE
TREIAKEREBE D Z
WA R (BER) METE
E BERHAXER-

Computer products Consolidated

HRR ERER =4
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
TEE-F -—TT-F -“BE-F -—TT-F -“EBE-fF _—ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TETL TET THEL T THEL
Segment revenue:- PEMA:

Sales to external customers HETHREP 47,776 13,905 16,376 16,487 64,152 30,392
Segment reslts DEES 19,452 4,927 (9,085) (2,339) 10,387 2,588
Interest income M E WA 8 179
Unallocated income APEHA 414 595
Unallocated expenses FOERAE (3,753) (2,181)
Profit from operations gl 7,056 1,181
Finance costs HEMK (20) (122)
Share of profit/(loss) of [EfG— AL RER %

a jointly controlled entity wfl/ (BR) 99 (625) 99 (625)
Profit before taxation B A& A 7,135 434
Taxation FiB - (6)
Profit attributable to shareholders % & & {6 3 7 7,135 428




Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st March, 2003

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a)

Business segments (Cont’d)

Segment assets

Interest in a jointly
controlled entity

Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information:-

Depreciation
Amortisation

Capital expenditure

TREE
Fiff— R R
bXES
APERE

BARX

—ET=FFH

Ay

BE-FT=F=A=+—HALFE

3. &

BEH (8)

MENHRESRAA

(a) XBoE (&)
Software development Computer products Unallocated Consolidated

BiEER ERER AR Ga
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
ZERBZF CTRCF BRI CTICF “BECH CTT-F “BRCE CTTCF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér T TEx TEx TEx TEx TExn  TExn
33,958 11,731 4,674 14,759 - - 38,632 26,490
- 394 - - - - - 394
- = - = 1,749 1,491 1,749 1,491
33,958 12,125 4,674 14,759 1,749 1,491 40,381 28,375
7,209 629 1,123 1,255 - = 8,332 1,884
- - - - 1,574 1,153 1,574 1,153
7,209 629 1,123 1,255 1,574 11161 9,906 3,087
358 90 92 42 111 45 561 177
504 84 175 = - = 679 84
1,240 261
927 548 458 317 89 282 1,474 1,147
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b) Geographical segments
The following tables present revenue, assets and
expenditure information for the Group’s geographical

segments.

Hong Kong

M ® KM

Bz

Taiwan
4%

“2R=f "TE-F “BB=E -

—EE=F=ZA=1—HIFE

TR A B 5 K B
SZMAN BERBEX AR

Others Consolidated
HithhE 58
2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
T-F “BE-F “TT-F “EBE=-fF -T%-fF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Téx Thxr Tz TEx Bz TEr  TEx  TEx
Segment revenue:- AEWA:
Sales to external customers & THREP 7,00 12594 48148 12446 8,074 5352 64,152 30,392
Other segment information-  Eft A EE#:
Segment assets PREE 35,083 22,155 1,530 2,085 3,788 3935 40,381 28,375
Capital expenditure EARY 157 625 446 148 871 374 1,474 1,147
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4.  TURNOVER AND REVENUE

Turnover represents the invoiced value of computer products
sold and Group’s Linux based software products distributed,

W

B % ®x M F

4. ERFRBA

cr =g DRNHEERRAF

=F=A=1+—HIFE

EEBRBELIKRE RN LR EEEH

B EHE

P8 2 o 2 o 8H $E . Linux®x 14 &=

commission income, artwork and web design services rendered, & ﬁ%ﬂ&)\ IR R M A B R AT RIS
after allowances for returns and discounts and net of value- L EEF-
added tax.
An analysis of turnover and other revenue is set out below:— EEBBRAEMPADH AT :
2003 2002
—EE=F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
Turnover:— R
Distribution of Group’s Linux based 75 88 AN &£ B LinuxEX 15 E
software products 47,776 13,888
Sales of computer products HEEIKE & 16,376 16,484
Commission income from sales of HEBKERME
computer products SN = 3
Artwork and web design services income R EM KM A RS
Pl 75 e A = 17
64,152 _.....30,392
Other revenue:— Halg A
Interest income A B W A 8 179
Other commission income HEMHe A - 219
Sundry income MIEUA 414 376
422 774
Total revenue WA 4858 64,574 31,166
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For the year ended 31st March, 2003 HE—TT=F=-A=1+—HIFFE
5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5. BR 5 A %
2003 2002
—EE=F —EF_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
:F B JT :F by JC
Profit before taxation is arrived BRELAT S MM (GEA)
at after charging/(crediting):— =D
Cost of inventories sold EEFEXAR 15,033 16,196
Depreciation e 561 177
Amortisation of product development costs EE om [ 25 P AN 8 679 84
Minimum operating lease payments:— KEHE v R EEEE:
Land and buildings T REF 3,130 1,184
Servers fa] AR 25 23 137
3,153 1,321
Less: Amounts capitalised as product W R EE on A 3K R
development costs BREAZEH = (194)
3,153 1,127
Auditors’ remuneration % 2B Bl 228 313

Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments) ETIRA (TBREZESEME)

Salaries and other benefits e kHEMETF 12,608 7,245
Pension contributions BIRESHK 342 238
12,950 7,483
Less: Amounts capitalised as product R E o R

development costs BREARAZSH - (2,957)
12,950 4,526
Impairment loss of goodwill GEESNE 686 =

Interests on bank borrowings wholly ERAEFABBEREZ
repayable within five years RITIEEF B = 122
Interest on convertible notes AMEREZEERE 20 =
Provision for inventories (Note #) B #E (M aE#) - 155
Provision for doubtful debts R IR AE 11,109 =
Bad debts written off B i sH AR 560 =
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEBEEERIE 288 12
Net exchange gain B 5 W 25 0 B8 (9) (45)
Note #: The provision for inventories is included in cost of sales in the s TERBETARSRZHEHERKE

o

income statement. Al



Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

6.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 6.

(a)

Directors (a) £

Executive directors:— HITES:
Fees |

Other emoluments H 2
Salaries and other benefits Fre REMmER
Pension contributions RIK 3K
Independent non-executive directorsi- B IEHMITE S
Fees ke
Total directors’ emoluments E=MeBs

During the year, the newly appointed executive director
did not receive any emoluments. The other three (2002:
three) executive directors received emoluments of
approximately HK$1,039,000 (2002: HK$1,026,000),
HK$434,000 (2002: HK$1,026,000), and HK$468,000
(2002: HK$507,000) respectively. The two (2002: two)
independent non-executive directors received
emoluments of HK$90,000 (2002: HK$90,000) and
HK$90,000 (2002: HK$90,000) respectively.

The emoluments of the directors were within the following
bands:—

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/% 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

A director who resigned during the year waived
emoluments of approximately HK$257,000.

B %
HE—

1,000,001% 1,500,000/% 7T

FEH MRENAERERRQA

# x M A
FE=F=A=+—AUFE

EENEEMS
2003 2002
—EE=F —EFE-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 T T
1,927 2,535
14 24
1,941 2,559
__________ 180 ... 180
2,121 2,739

FRN HEERTE ST EWEUER
e BIN=ZB (T _F:=8)#H
1TE E 5 R WEEN < 491,089,000/ 7T
(ZZ2ZF = 4 :1,026,0008 ) *
434,000 7T (ZZFZ =4 :1,026,000
B T0) 468,000 7T (T — &
507,000 L) - MAB (ZEZT=F: W
%) B I TTE E Bl 9 Bl Uk BB £
90,000/ 7T (=& T = £ : 90,0007
J) K 90,0008 T (Z T T — F:
90,000/ 7T ) °

EEMENFATEHE:

Number of directors

BEAHY
2003 2002
—EE=F —EFEF
5 3
1 2

FAFRETZ—BEEHREMNE2 L
257,000/ Tt
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6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 6.

(Cont’d)

(o)

Five highest paid employees

BE-FT=F=A=+—HALFE

During the year, the five highest paid employees included
three (2002: three) executive directors of the Company,
details of whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2002: two) highest

paid employees were as follows:—

Salaries and other benefits
Pension contributions

e REMER
BIREHR

The emoluments of the employees were within the

following band:—

Nil to HK$1,000,000

£ % 1,000,0007% 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid employees, including directors of the Company, as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

EEhEEME (&)

(b)

IEREHES

B(ZFF_F:=48)
HITEF EAMSHBEEN L
Xo-HepmME (ZEFT_F: M
) EEFEBZMEWT:

2003 2002

— —TE-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER TAT

1,079 866

19 23

1,098 889
BEEME N FUATHE:

Number of employees

BE A
2003 2002
—EE=F —FE-F
2 2

AEEYEAAZR=HIESR
(BRERARARES) XM EMIE
RBEMARIMAKREE 2 8
B BB mE S
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7.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of those
employees who are eligible to participate in the scheme. The
MPF Scheme has operated since 1st December, 2000.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a percentage of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The central pension
scheme is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to all retired employees and the Group has no further obligations
for the pension payments on post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions.

During the year, the Group made pension contributions of
HK$356,000 (2002: HK$262,000).

TAXATION

The Group NEE
Hong Kong profits tax
Elsewhere

H i [

BENGEH

o %
#

7.

8.

FEH MRENAERERRQA

&M

—EE=F=ZA=1—HIFE

RKE 5

A& BRI 5R B M AT F ERA
REMBRERZHEGFIZEERMH
EERGIERTRESRKEME ([54
BEErdll) BEEFEAA_FTETT
F+_A-BRRER-XEERES
EAXRFEADHLIERER RERE
iR R B R AL RS ERE R
AR -BEESHECEEFNEL
EREG HBAKEEESFARKE X
SERBRBEAEEL 2 BEHRE
BEEEME-

RPBELE s RABINBLREER
2B T U 8 F 2 P RARIRET
g-ZETBENBARERFETAD
FE [A) R SRR PR AT B 4F H SR e AR SRR
REFEAXNE2EBERNEBR ZH
BRAKRE - AEEBARFEHRA
S BRRERBHEE-

F ANEBEH R KL #5356,000
BT (ZEE 262,000 7T) °

#iE
2003 2002
—EE=F —TE_F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T8t FHBT
= 6
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10.

TAXATION (Cont’d)

No provision for profits tax has been made as the Group has no
assessable profits for the year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere in previous year have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made as the Group
did not have any significant unprovided deferred tax in respect
of the year.

The components of the unprovided deferred tax asset/(liability)
are as follows:—

Accelerated depreciation allowances
Unutilised tax losses

Net deferred tax asset

Net deferred tax asset has not been recognised owing to
uncertainty regarding the Group’s future operating results.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Of the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders, a loss of
HK$4,312,000 (2002: HK$1,836,000) has been dealt with in
the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
the year.

MERFTERBER
ABABEER

L
BE-FT=F=A=+—HALFE

ERERAEEEFE

10.

| (&)

HRARERAF R EERT G
- B RSB R

Hiih o i FHRAR BRI IEAE
BEBAEBRR ZRITRERIEIRT
Mk - mBEREAEE-

ERAKEREARFRELEEFAEKN
ARBHELRE R EJELER R
R B

ABHEERBEE (BF) BFEA
NER:

2003 2002
—EE=F —EE—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T8 T FET
(22) (43)

4,496 1,630
4,474 1,587

HRANEERREERETETHEA
AE #YEBERREHBREEFE

% 3R FE AL = F

TE J% B R 2N 5= B 5% F HF 0 4,312,000
BT (ZE T -4 :1,836,0006 7T) &
BERARRMEHRERARE-

@S\

ARBRANERERLIRERE IR EM
Hﬁ/%\o
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11.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for

the year is based on the following data:-

Earnings for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:—
Interest on convertible notes

Earnings for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating basic
earnings per share

Effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares:—

Share options
Convertible notes

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating diluted
earnings per share

The share options have no dilutive effect for the year because
the exercise price of the Company’s share options was higher
than the average market price of the shares during the year.

—ET=FFH

49

MENHRESRAA

BE—TE=F=A=1—HIFE

1. BREFN

BATHEAE:

RAFE BREAREERNTIR

2003 2002
—EER=F —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
& T THT
FAEERERBTARZF
7,135 428
BESBELTRRMNTE:
AIMERZEF S 20 =
ATEEREERFINAF
7,155 428
2003 2002
—EER=F —ET-F
No. of shares No. of shares
% & fi% £k

HHESREREFIW
o 38 AR 7018 T 9 B B
1,649,251,000

B

BEBELTRBRNTE:

Al =
Al R F iR 20,274,000

1,671,158,000

6,342,000

HESRBERAMN
33 AR AN 4E T 15 AR 81
1,669,525,000

1,5677,500,000

BFEYHE:

RAFE BREYEHEZE AL
ARBBRENTEESRAFER
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12. FIXED ASSETS

BE-FT=F=A=+—HALFE

12.BlEEE

Computer Office Furniture
equipment equipment and fixtures Total
i NS FEM R
Bz E ®E ®E Bet
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
(i) The Group iy A&
Cost:— YA
At 1st April, 2002 RZZTZZF
mA—H 656 366 329 1,351
Arising on acquisition W g — BT &8 A )

of a subsidiary i 2 4 - 55 - 55
Additions NE 575 446 398 1,419
Disposals = (132) (11) (378) (521)
At 31st March, 2003 R=BEB=F

=ER=Et—-R Uitee e P e o e
Aggregate depreciation:— R E:
At 1st April, 2002 R-_ZTE_F
MmA—H 160 46 41 247
Arising on acquisition of U B8 — RS B 2 &

a subsidiary i 2= 4 = 21 = 21
Charge for the year NEEHFE 329 144 88 561
Written back on disposals & $ o) (55) 2) 71) (128)
At 31st March, 2003 R=-ZBZ2=F

=He=gti B pessni Iy SEET )] g SO T S o
Net book value:- REFE:
At 31st March, 2003 R=-BB=F
=B=+—H 665 647 291 1,603
At 31st March, 2002 R-_ZTE_F
= B == 496 320 288 1,104
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12. FIXED ASSETS (Cont’d)

(i) The Company

Cost:—
At 1st April, 2002

Additions
Disposals

At 31st March, 2003
Aggregate depreciation:—
At 1st April, 2002

Charge for the year
Written back on disposals

At 31st March, 2003

Net book value:—
At 31st March, 2003

At 31st March, 2002

MENHRESRAA

o %
#

#* M i
ZE=Zf=+—AULEE

—FEF

12. BIEEE (&)

Computer Office Furniture
equipment equipment and fixtures Total
WAE RHME
BB B4 ®E ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T& T T& T TET TET
(iy &2 A
B
RZEZE-F
mA—H 117 19 148 284
NE 29 3 57 89
H e (11) = (148) (159)
R-EBE=F
=EA=t+—-8A 1 22 5 214
R inE:
R-ZEE—F
mA—H 16 3 15 34
REFHE 42 6 22 70
el ==E 2l 2) - (30) (32)
R-EBEE=F
SH= B | — =256 i) | A —=| [
BREFEE:
R-ZBE=F
=A=+—H 79 13 50 142
KRBT _F
=F=5—1 101 16 133 250
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost

Amounts due from subsidiaries

The amounts are interest-free, unsecured and have no fixed

terms of repayment.

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:—

Name

=1

Thiz Technology Group (BVI)

Holdings Limited (“Thiz BVI’)

THIZLINUX INC.

THIZBIZ INC.

Thiz.Com Inc.

Thiz.Com (Hong Kong) Limited

L
BE-FT=F=A=+—HALFE

13. FrEMIBAR 2D

2003 2002

—22=F BT _F

HK$’000 HK$‘OOO

FH T TR

LT R R o1 .
L OT POEe 51901 o
31,382 33,617

BRAFEAL RS EEH R B EEXM-

MBARZFBENT:

Nominal

value of issued
ordinary shares/
registered

and operations capital

ERMRYEZR SBROZERS

Place of
incorporation/
registration

REFEHH EfMEREE
British Virgin Islands US$100
RBRUEE 100% 7T
British Virgin Islands US$1
NERAHES 17T
British Virgin Islands US$1
RERXES 13E7T
British Virgin Islands US$200,000
RBERAHE 200,000% 7T
Hong Kong HK$10,000
BB 10,0007 7T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

ARR
BiERET D
Directly Indirectly

Hi CF:3

100 =
= 100
= 100
= 100
= 100

Principal activities

ETEXEK

Investment holding
REZEK

Investment holding

RE LR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
and provision of

management services

REERR
REEERS
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March, 2003

13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 13. FiftMiIB ARl z#&m (&)
Nominal

Place of value of issued

incorporation/

ordinary shares/

Percentage of

registration registered equity attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
dMRYEfM ERTEERS PN
=L REXEBE ZMEAEE EEREEILE FEEHB
Directly Indirectly
B =
PC Media, Inc. United States US$50,000 — 100  Dormant
of America Common stock TEmER
ES 50,000% 7T
gL
Thiz Design Group Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100  Provision of management
BB 10,0007 7T services
REEERE
Thizlinux Laboratory Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100  Development and sales
B Z SRR BR A A BE 10,0007 7T of Linux based
software products
B 2 & iF E Linux
BHEM
Thizbiz Global Trade Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100  B2B e-commerce
MEESBERAA BB 10,000% 7T BEURECETEE
Thiz Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Provision of management
BEEFREEARAT BB 10,0008 7T services
REEERT
The Investment Exchange Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100  Dormant
REXRSMERRE BB 10,0007 7T EEXK
The Recruitment Database Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Dormant
BRIEBRAF BN 10,000#% 7T EERB
Thiz.Com (China) Limited British Virgin Islands US$ - 100  Dormant
RBRAES 1%L TEE®
Thiz Grandmass ERP Systems Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100  Dormant
Limited BN 100,0007% 7T EERB

AERCERGEERAF
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 13. FTEMIB AR 2= (&)

Name

=1

RBEREER
AEMERH AR AR

Ay = WaNAN— B
EE25 AT

Beijing ThizLinux Software Co,
Limited

1t 7 B 7 FE 32 87
HHBRDA

ThizLinux Software (Shenzhen)
Company Limited
BN &M ORIN) AR A E

Beijing Thiz Junye Software
Co, Ltd.
IR EERGE AR AR

* Not audited by PKF, Hong Kong

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and operations
MR
REFEHH

Taiwan

/=

People’s Republic
of China
o

People’s Republic
of China
i

People’s Republic
of China
i

Nominal

value of issued
ordinary shares/
registered
capital
BERITEBER
AMEREE

NT$1,700,000
1,700,000%7 & &

US$250,000
250,000 T

US$250,000
250,000 7T

US$150,000
150,000% 7T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

ARQR
BiERET D
Directly Indirectly
Hi CF:3

= 100
= 100
= 100
= 100

Principal activities

FTEXER

Sales of Linux based
software products
and computer products
5 & Linux 1 E f
K & B 2 i

Not yet commenced
business

Development and
sales of Linux based
software products

7 3 I 35 & Linux
B Em

Not yet commenced
business

* WIEARBFERBREG AT E AR
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14. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY 14. Piie—EH

Share of net liabilities
Loan to a jointly controlled entity

During the year, the Group acquired an additional 50% interest
in Thiz Grandmass ERP Systems Limited (“Thiz ERP”). Thiz ERP
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

15. PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Cost:—

At 1.4.2002 and 31.3.2003

Aggregate amortisation:—

At 1.4.2002
Charge for the year

At 31.3.2003

Net book value:—

At 31.3.2003

At 31.3.2002

W

BT =

M ® KM

BE-_FTE=F=-H=

MENHRESRAA

T—HIEFE

B 22 i i 5

EhaEF5E
BERT—MERESE

= 394

EBEBRAA

=
15. EmBAEK
DN
R-ZEZE-FWA-BR
—EE=f=A=+-H
REt#H:

R-_ZTZZE—FpmA—H
NG

R-ZEE=¥=A=+—H

AR FE -

R-EEBE=F=A=+—H

RZEZE-_F=H=+—H

FAREEBIBANSEACE

(TBNEFBE Al ) 50% 71

@ ARRARARARREZENEB R

ZIN

HK$°000
TR
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BE—TEE=F=A=1—HIFE

16. GOODWILL 16. BE
HK$’000
FET
Cost:— B AR :
Addition and at 31.3.2003 BERKR-_ZEE=F=F=+—H 686
Aggregate impairment:— WIB B
Charge for the year and at 31.3.2003 AEERERR-_ZEZE=F=A=+—H (686)
Net book value:- AR T A -
At 31.3.2003 R=-BE=F=H=+—H -
17. INVENTORIES 17. FE
2003 2002
—BF=F —EBECF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Linux based software products package LinuxElfhF E mE 302 17
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. FEUWERIE

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on a
cash-on-delivery basis, except for major customers, where an
average credit period of 30 days is normally given.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
provision) at the balance sheet date:-

0-30 days 0£30H
31-60 days 31£60H
61-90 days 61290H
91-180 days 91&180H
181-360 days 1812 360H

AEEEEP 2R HGHREERED
M- EE2FFP A &4 T F1H308
ZIEEH-

REEEH 2 EIERTE N EE) 2R
RofmamT:

2003 2002
—EE=F —FEE-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 T FHET
3,902 5,220
3,928 46
3,904 5
11,509 20
8,044 L
31,287 5,291
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19.

20.

21.

22.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The amount is interest-free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

At 31st March, 2008, included in the Group’s cash and bank
balances were amounts of approximately HK$238,000 (2002:
HK$2,000) denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and kept in the
PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the balance
sheet date:—

0Z30H
31E60H

0-30 days
31-60 days

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

The amounts are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

BE—FTE=F=

IE);

20.

—TE=FFH DRNHKERRAF

A=+ —HILEE
U —EEEE A
BEZENEE EEMARERER
fEE o
RERBITER
R-ZEE=6=FA=+—H8 A£H

21.

22.

2R & RIRIT 45 H #238,0007%8 7T

TEZ_F:200087T) AARKE
(TARE|)BE WEBRRFR- A
REASTTERELBEMER A B
BHRBRIINEETERTZEE SERX
NEBEERAT ASE]BHERE
ETIEEREZRTABRARBAH
fith B #E o

FEAS BR1E
REZER 2 EAERIE Z 8RR 5 T4
T~
2003 2002
—g¥=F -TT_%
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
16 899
524 7
540 906
A EEFIE
FARELEE BEEARFREXK
BE-
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23. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:—
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

At 1.4.2002 and 31.3.2003

Issued and fully paid:-

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1.4.2002

Repurchase of shares (Note a)

At 31.3.2003

Note a: The shares repurchased were cancelled during the year and the

BE-FT=F=A=+—HALFE

23. IR

Pz

i

BREEOIE L2 EBK
RZZFEZ-ZFMA—B K
—EE=F=H=+—H
BETEHR

BREBEC.OIE T @R
\§—7 = —fﬁmﬂ*a

B iy (M aEa)

R=—ZBZ=%=A=+-H

issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal
value thereof. The premium payable on repurchase of the shares
of HK$1,915,000 has been charged to the share premium
account. An amount equivalent to the nominal value of the shares
cancelled has been transferred from the profit and loss account
of the Company to the capital redemption reserve.

Number
of shares HK$’000
B 17 8B FE T
5,000,000,000 50,000
1,654,500,000 16,545
(8,440,000) (84)
1,646,060,000 16,461

fitta: BRBROHERFAZHE ARFZ

BEETERAARE BEERDE B
Bl B 17 2 F& {4 B 1,915,0007% 7T
EREOEERMEG -HEREE
HERMEENSERAARZEE
REEEEREORHE-
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24.

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6th July, 2001, for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any full-
time executive director or employee of a company within the
Group. The Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years from 6th
July, 2001 during which the directors may make offer to grant
share options to eligible participants.

Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme as amended in accordance
with Chapter 23 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”), the maximum number of
the Company’s shares which can be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes must not exceed 10% of the Company’s
shares in issue at the date of approval and the maximum number
of the Company’s shares which can be granted to each
participant must not in any 12-month period exceed 1% of the
Company’s shares in issue with effect from 1st October, 2001.

The consideration for the grant of an option is HK$1 each. An
option may be exercised at any time during a period as
determined by the directors which shall not be less than three
years and not more than ten years from the date of acceptance
of options offered under the Scheme by the grantee.

(i) Movements in share options

At beginning of year F4

Granted B

Lapsed BER

At 31st March e ==

Options vested at 31st March
2 BB M

zr=FFH DRNAKERRLIF

BE-—EE=—F=A=+—HIEE
24. BRAFHERER

ESE = R R

ARABRER-_ZZE-—FLtANAA
BZRBERMNBERETS (T5
) FEAEERZEHAEEERE
R EERB A BRSEA L
BERE-FEZAERSEALE
BRAEEBETRREMNEZBATES
HEB-FHEIH— —F+tAXA
REXN s +F EFARZY[R
BEBSEALRTERE-

__EE‘

BEFTEIER (KRIERFS LA
Bl (TAIZR EmAEA]) EB23E &
i) RIBETE| R AR E M EIE EH 2
RARRMNEE TEBBER I E R
AATBEETRMD10% » mAER12
ERHEARTFERL2EBALZAR
ARDEBE RS TSBBARREH
TR?D1% B -_Z2F—F+H—H
HE Ao

BORBZBERERER BT ME
BEARESETE < BRERTE
HEZ B 8 AR AR AR IR ET 8118
EZEREBRET TIR=FMm
XA B@tTFe

(i) B I R 42 )

Number of options

BREEHE
2003 2002
—EE=F —FE-F
39,640,000 =
= 39,640,000
(21,460,000) =
18,180,000 39,640,000
18,180,000 39,640,000
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24.

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (Cont’d)

(i)

(iii)

= B &
F=F=H=

T—HIEFE

24. RAMERN (F)

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at (i)

balance sheet date

Exercise
price
Date of grant per share Exercise period
R BB BRITEE 17 L A R
HK$
T
30th June, 2002 to
29th June, 2012
—mT &
ANA=+H=E
21st November, 2001 —E—-_fF
—EE-F+—-—H=-+—H 0.315 AH_+RE
Details of share options granted during the year, all of (iii)

which were granted for a consideration of HK$1 per

grant

Date of grant

K BAH

21st November, 2001
—EE-—Ff—A=+-H

Exercise
price

per share
BRITEE
HK$

BT

0.315

Exercise period

TEHE

30th June, 2002 to
29th June, 2012

—EE—&
TR Ry =2
=i
7S =S

REEE B & R ER R ERITE
2 BB IR IR

Number of options

BREHE
2003 2002
—EE=E —EE—F
18,180,000 39,640,000

FARBZBREFE 23
HRSNEREIBTZRE

Number of options

BREHE
2003 2002
—EE=F —E2E_F
= 39,640,000
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24.

25!

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (Cont’d)

(iv)

Note:

Details of share options lapsed during the year

—rr=FFH DRNAEERRLF

M E KN
BE-FF=F=A=+—AL*E

24, BABHEREFN (8)

(iv), FRRBZBERESE

Exercise Number of options
price BREHE
Date of grant per share Exercise period 2003 2002
& B BRITERE TR —EE=F —ET_F
HK$
&I
30th June, 2002 to
29th June, 2012
—ET_F
NA=Z+HZE
21st November, 2001 —E-_fF
—ET—F+—-—H=-+—H 0.315 NAZ+hAB 21,460,000 -

Details of share options exercised during the year

No options were exercised during the year ended 31st
March, 2003 (2002: Nil).

The above information has been adjusted for the subdivision of
the Company’s shares on 23rd January, 2002.

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
share of the Company. Share options do not confer rights on
the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meeting.

At 31st March, 2003, the exercise in full of the outstanding
share options granted under the Scheme will result in the issue
of an additional 18,180,000 shares of HK$0.01 each with
corresponding proceeds of approximately HK$5,727,000.

RESERVES

@i

The Group

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of shares of the Company
and the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the reorganisation to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM (the “Reorganisation”).

(v) FROEZBREFS

BE-TE=F=A=1-A
LI 48 - 3 A4 71 R A 2 1T
E(-FE-F:F)-

fiaE: LBEREARRTROR -_TZ-
F-A-_T=RAFAMmMEMALE-

BOBRERTHAAENRELAR
Al-RBEO -BEREYEETHEA
BNERREINBRAGERRE-

R_ZZTZ=ZF=ZA=+—H8 WEE
MBI 2 M RIT B IR R ER BT
{5 - 5B BUEE SN 1T18,180,0000% B %
EEC.01B T 2 M5 - FHIEFT S 34
5,727,000/ JT °

25. f#1E
(i) rEE

AEB 2SR RREANRER
DEEEREERARFBROR
BIER EMBEESHEBEARE

EZE (124 rkERB A
AR EEZER.
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25. RESERVES (Cont’d)

(i) The Company

Capitalisation of loans
from shareholders
Premium arising
on placing
Share issue expenses
Capitalisation issue
Loss for the period

At 31.3.2002 and
1.4.2002

Repurchase of shares
Loss for the year

At 31.3.2003

Note
B 7

f& R E K

R E R (a)
Hie & A% {0 B A4
2w B (b)
B& 1 B 1TH X

B AR BT (b)
HANEE

RZEZE-F
=RA=+—H
LT -F
mA—H

B8 O f% 17 (©)

KNEEZEE

RZEE=F
=HA=+—H

B % & & M
B2 —FTE=F=—HA=+—HIFE
25. f##E (&)
(i) PN
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BEAREME
B% 5= B f#E RIEB BEt
HK$’000 HK’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAET
9,916 - - 9,916
28,340 - - 28,340
(4,766) - - (4,766)
(18,917) = - (13,917)
- - (1,836) (1,836)
19,573 - (1,836) 17,737
(1,915) 84 (84) (1,915)
- - (4,312) (4,312)
17,658 84 (6,232) 11,510

The Company had distributable reserves of approximately
HK$11,426,000 at 31st March, 2003. Under the

Companies Law (Cap. 22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company,
provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividends is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

R-—EE=F=A=+—8"

A

ZINW/N

CIR=RCIR 2 3

11,426,000 L IRIEER S B S
RAVE (— AN —FFEIHEH
Fo2E IR E RIBET) BRIE
BHEEZHOIKKEAEE K
NRIEMEE R B EBKT EH
ZEB BB EENES
KT AR RBRE-
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25.

RESERVES (Cont’d)

(ii) The Company (Cont’d)

Note:—

(@)

On 5th July, 2001, pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
then shareholders of Thiz BVI, the previous holding
company of the Group, transferred the entire share
capital in Thiz BVI to the Company, in consideration
and in exchange for which the Company allotted and
issued at par, credited as fully paid, 209,519 shares of
HK$0.10 each to the then shareholders.

On the same date, an aggregate of 69,380 shares of
HK$0.10 each were allotted and issued as consideration
for the acquisition of the benefits of loans due to Mr. Li
Sze Tang and Mr. Wong Hoi Wong of approximately
HK$9,923,000 in aggregate from Thiz BVI resulting in a
credit to the share premium account of the Company
amounted to HK$9,916,000.

Pursuant to written resolutions passed by the then
shareholders of the Company on 6th July, 2001:-

(i) On 26th July, 2001, 26,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.10 each were issued by way of placing at
a premium of HK$1.09 per share for cash (the
“Placing”). The excess of the issue price over
the par value of the shares issued upon the
Placing totaling HK$28,340,000 was credited to
the share premium account of the Company.

(if) On 26th July, 2001, immediately after the
Placing, 139,171,100 shares of HK$0.10 each
were allotted and issued at par, credited as fully
paid, to the shareholders in proportion to their
respective shareholdings on the register of the
members of the Company at the close of
business on 6th July, 2001 by way of the
capitalisation of the share premium available.

zr=FFH DRNAKERRLIF

—FF=F=A=+HUFE

2

it (&)

(i)

RAT (&)

B3 :

(a)

—ZE-F+ARA-RE
EH AEERZER QA
Thiz BVIE & & I% 3 #% Thiz
BVIFI IR AN 2 888 T AR
A MMEBBEARRIEE
B E R R kT
209,519 & R E1E0. 108
TARIESERG 2R

E-

RABE SREERETEHR
69,380/ & X E fE0.108
TCH B - B R A Thiz BVI
WisrNAtEEERT
)& 7t £ & $£479,923,000
BILERZF SR E R
A R A )4 18 R B T 2 A
# 859,916,000/ T °

RER-BE—FLAX
H el A 2 7 % B Y R A
MEEABR

0] —EE-F+HC
—+75H 126,000,000
M & 1% 0.107% 7T &Y
Mk REES
B 1.097% 7T A B &
7R BT SR ER
Be (MBEE]) &
NETEBLES
FATETIROEE
Z = H gk
28,340,0007% It

FTAKRRF KRG &
Bk
(ii) s

+AE - BERS
% BB D &
BRERFTERFR -
139,171,1000% &
AREE0.10/ T H
G IABIER R A
XN RE-ZZ—
FHANBEER
SR ¥ /NG
R Z AT Ek 2 & IR
REZBE DL IR
EELRERETT
R
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25. RESERVES (Cont’d)
(i) The Company (Cont’d)

Note:— (Cont’d)

(c) During the year, the Company repurchased its own
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The shares repurchased were cancelled during the year
and the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the nominal value thereof. The premium
payable on repurchase of the shares of HK$1,915,000
has been charged to the share premium account. An
amount equivalent to the nominal value of the shares
cancelled has been transferred from the profit and loss
account of the Company to the capital redemption
reserve.

26. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The convertible notes of HK$4,000,000 are unlisted and bear
interest at rate of 2.5% per annum with maturity on 16th January,
2006. The interest is payable on maturity date or within 14
business days after conversion of the notes. The notes are
convertible into new shares of the Company at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.04 per share (subject to adjustments)
during the period from 17th January, 2003 to 16th January,
2006 in amounts of not less than HK$500,000 on each
conversion. No early redemption by the Company or the
noteholders is allowed prior to the maturity date.

Fully particulars of the convertible notes are set out in the
announcement dated 17th January, 2003.

B EE N
BE-—FF=F=-A=1+—HILFE
25. f#fE (#)
(i) A7 @&
MiEE: (8)
©  RAFE ARANEBH
ERSHERATEER
AR5 « 7 A 4F 52 8 1 1 AR 1)
B AR AR HT
82 7% 6 5 A P £ T O
Do 1 B R 1) A A 0 (B
1,915,0007% 7T &t A B 10348
fB 3R 48 5 10 AT 94 AR 19 E
1B #5088 Al B A 1 B 9 18
wmRE AN BE AN
26. AIRERE

H{E4,000,00078 JT 2 A 2 A% Z= iR A0 £
tHEBRE2SE N T NF—
A+/"BE B -FEEMREHAKL
WA EHE B 14EE 2B At
ZERALZER0.04B T (I FHRE) 2
M RBER-—ZTEZET=F—AF++tAH
ETTRF-A+BHELBRE
AARZHBEGH MBALBZES5E
TR R 500,0007 T o 7 E R H B - A
RAIHBRBERBEATGRTEED

BEMTARER 2 HERREA TR
—EFR=F-A+LBZAM-
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Notes to Financial Statements B & E M
For the year ended 31st March, 2003 HE-_ZFTE=F=A=+—HIFE

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 27. HMERERERMT

STATEMENT
Acquisition of a subsidiary HK$’000
Wi —EHE A A FH& T
Net assets acquired: BAZEEFE:
Fixed assets EEE 34
Cash and bank balances Re RRITET 2
Other payables and accruals H i & T 308 R FE SRR (9)
Loans from shareholders &R E (1,299)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities AHREERABEREFRE (1,272)
Positive goodwill arising on consideration REEAZEEE 686
(586)
Satisfied by: NRAH:
Cash consideration HeRE 50
Interest in a jointly controlled entity BTl — ] FE A 42 ol 1 A 25 (636)
(586)
The subsidiary acquired during the year was previously a jointly FREAZHBAR ZAALNERZ
controlled entity of the Group. HE S %o
Analysis of net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in WERB ARz Re RREEEBEIEER
respect of acquisition of the subsidiary:— RETBFEIN:
HK$’000
FE T
Cash consideration RERE 50
Cash and bank balances acquired BAZEE MBITER )
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents R&MIR&EEEBEE 2R &R H F5E 48
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28.

29.

30.

o E KM

F—F_HA=+—HIFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 28. FEHRERS
In previous year, the major non-cash transactions of the Group EFF AEBE2ZEHFBRERFHBE
consisted of the acquisition of Thiz BVI and the capitalisation of B EAKREThiz BVIEREERE R
the loans from shareholders pursuant to the Reorganisation. B
OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENT 29. KREHEZH
As at 31st March, 2003, the Group and the Company had R-BEE=F=ZA=+—H x5£H
outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating BARRQAIS L REF 2 Al HE L
leases in respect of land and buildings, which fall due as follows:— EHAB R ABITALE JBHBERAT:
Group Company
rEH KA F
2003 2002 2003 2002
“BRERZHF —_TT-_F ZBE=ZF —_TIT_F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHETT FE T FA&T
Within one year —F R 1,579 1,455 360 634
In the second to fifth years inclusive 26 — & & A 4F
(BIEEREWE) 632 1,299 150 -
2,211 2,754 510 634
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group KEHERIBREASE A AGIGHE
and the Company for their office premises. Leases are negotiated ?)ﬁf REMERN 2B -BHOTEH A
for an average term of two to three years with fixed monthly M-z BAZNETHSE-
rentals.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30. HAAEE
As at 31st March, 2003, the Group and the Company had no R-ZEZE=F=A=+—H F&H
material contingent liabilities (2002: Nil). EARRAWBEAKNABE (ZEE
— e
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31.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

On 28th March, 2002, a joint venture agreement was entered
into by the Company, Eaglemax International Investment Limited
(“ElIL”), a company wholly owned by Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, and
Beijing Normal University (“BNU”) in relation to the formation of
a sino-foreign equity joint venture, JingShi Thizlinux Laboratory
Stock Company (the “Joint Venture”). Pursuant to the joint
venture agreement, the Company, ElIL and BNU are committed
to contribute RMB15,000,000, RMB15,000,000 and
RMB20,000,000 respectively for their respective interests of 30%,
30% and 40% in the Joint Venture. However, there is no payment
schedule specified in the joint venture agreement.

On 3rd June, 2002, the Company, EIIL and BNU entered into a
joint venture supplemental agreement whereby the three parties
agreed to set up/develop the 100 JingShi Thizlinux Internet
Course Programs (the “Programs”). Under the joint venture
supplemental agreement, each of the Company and EIIL is
committed to investing RMB10,000,000 for the development of
the Programs whereas BNU is not required to invest capital but
will be responsible for the development, design of the courses
and the provision of course contents. There is no investment
schedule specified in the supplemental agreement.

At 31st March, 2003, the Group and the Company had capital
commitments contracted for but not provided for in relation to
the formation of the Joint Venture amounted to RMB15,000,000
(2002: Nil) and the development of the Programs amounted to
RMB10,000,000 (2002: Nil) in the PRC.

Full details are set out in the announcement dated 3rd June,
2002.

zr=FFH DRNAKERRLIF
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32.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in notes 19, 22 and 31
to the financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with its related parties during the year:—

Professional fees paid to
First Asia Finance Group
Limited (“FAFGL”)

Rentals paid on office premises
sub-let from Dragon System
Development Limited (“DSDL”)

Rentals paid on office premises
sub-let from FAFGL

Office rentals paid to
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Disposal of fixed assets to
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Acquisition of fixed assets
from FAFGL

Purchases of computers and
accessories from DSDL
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32. BEAEALTRS
BB ISR RMTEE19 - 22 MBI ER
SN AEBRFRNEEEHEAT
AN FNHIEARS:
2003 2002
—EE=F —E2EF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FE T FET
0] 402 =
(i) 29 123
(iii) = 172
(iv) = 30
(v) - 202
(v) = 107
(vi) = 276




Notes to Financial Statements
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32.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Note:

(i) Professional fees were paid for the financial services based on
the services provided in relation to the formation of the Joint
Venture in the PRC and the establishment of Level 1 ADR
program for the Company. Mr. Li Sze Tang is a director and
substantial shareholder of FAFGL.

(if) The rentals paid were based on the then prevailing market rent.
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong is a shareholder and director of the ultimate
holding company of DSDL. Mr. Li Sze Tang is a shareholder and
director of a company which is one of the shareholders of DSDL.

(iii) One of the office premises previously occupied by the Group
was sub-let from FAFGL. The rentals paid by the Group were
identical to the rentals paid by FAFGL as the head tenant to the
landlord, as the office premises were wholly occupied by the
Group.

(iv) The rentals paid were based on the then prevailing market rent.
On 9th April, 2001, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong assigned the property
previously occupied by the Group to an independent third party
who had agreed to observe the terms and conditions of the
original tenancy agreement between Mr. Wong Hoi Wong and
the Group.

(V) The transactions were entered into by reference to the book
carrying values of fixed assets.

(Vi) The transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms.

The transactions set out in (i) to (vi) above and the entering into
the joint venture agreement and the supplemental agreement as
detailed in note 31 to the financial statements constituted
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules. The
directors have reviewed the transactions and are of the opinion
that these transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business of the Group and on normal commercial terms.
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RESULTS &
Year ended 31st March,
BHE=HA=1t—HLEE
2003 2002 2001 2000
—E22=F ZTT-F ZZTTF ZTTTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FHBT FHB T FET
Turnover EERE 64,152 30,392 4,315 34,923
Profit/(loss) from operations R (BE) 7,056 1,181 (6,059) (1,828)
Finance costs B & R AR (20) (122) = =
Share of profit/(loss) of J& b — A F R 422 )

a jointly controlled entity ERF, (EE) 99 (625) (160) =
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrELRTE A (E18) 7,135 434 (6,219) (1,828)
Taxation I8 - (6) (6) (12)
Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders A% 2 1

wm AL (E1E) 7,135 428 (6,225) (1,840)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
As at 31st March,
A=H=+—H
2003 2002 2001 2000
—EE=F T —F —FTT—F —_TETFTF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T FHB T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS SRS el | st | SH 481058 o g 365
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE 36,145 23,565 1,898 1,415
DEDUCT: A
CURRENT LIABILITIES meaE 5,906 3,037 13,454 6,740
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE,/
(R1R) #ME —=280,2898 . 20,5285 (11,656) 53 25 (5,325)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTBARE

LIABILITIES 34,475 25,338 (11,192) (4,960)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE (4,000) = 5 &
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(AE)FE 30,475 25,338 (11,192) (4,960)
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